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30 ways sport and  
recreation benefits  
people and communities

Kids who play 
sport learn better 
and are more likely 
to enjoy school.

Improves 
mental 
health.

Contributes to 
social capital.

Brings people 
together, 
providing 
opportunities 
for social 
interaction.

Empowers, inspires 
and motivates 
individuals.

Keeps kids 
away from 
the TV or 
screens!

Creates positive 
alternatives to youth 
offending, anti-social 
behaviour and crime.

Contributes to 
higher levels 
of self-esteem 
and self-worth.

Helps sustain the 
environment through 
protecting open space 
and natural areas.

Reduces pollution 
– promotes use 
of active modes 
of transport like 
walking and cycling.

Healthy workers are 
more productive and 
take less sick days.

Eases pressure 
on the health 
system.

Provides a vehicle 
for inclusion, drawing 
together people 
of different races, 
religions and cultures.
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Develops 
life skills and 
leadership 
abilities.

Fosters 
community 
pride.

Promotes a 
healthy, active 
lifestyle.

Creates 
employment 
opportunities. Galvanises 

communities in 
times of need.

Provides a sense 
of belonging.

Helps shape our 
national character 
and pride.

Provides 
work/life 
balance. Binds families and 

communities through 
shared experiences.

Sport and recreation clubs are the hub of 
community life, especially in the regions.

Creates 
opportunities for, 
and promotes, 
volunteering.

Can help prevent 
cardiovascular 
disease, diabetes 
and some cancers.

Reduces obesity. Contributes 
to lifelong 
learning.

Great opportunities 
for networking.

Tones and 
strengthens 
the body.

Economic growth through 
business investment, 
employment, major 
events and tourism.



The Work We Do
Building stronger, healthier, 
happier and safer communities.
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Mission statement and priorities

Mission statement and priorities
Minister responsible
The Department of Sport and Recreation 
reports to the Hon Mick Murray MLA 
Minister for Sport and Recreation; 
Seniors and Ageing; Volunteering.

Our mission
To increase participation and achievement 
in sport and active recreation to enhance 
the quality of life of Western Australians.

The Department of Sport and Recreation 
(DSR) is committed to developing a 
comprehensive, strong and diverse sport 
and recreation system in Western Australia 
that is easily accessible, encourages 
participation and develops talent.

Our Department operates across 
and reports on three key areas:

1. Infrastructure and organisational 
development: providing industry 
leadership and support for infrastructure 
and organisational development, 
through funding and advice to sport 
and recreation organisations State-
wide, including local governments.

The strategic intent:

• Industry development – development 
of a sport and recreation industry with 
vibrancy, purpose and direction.

• Infrastructure – quality sport and recreation 
facility planning, design and management.

• Developing organisations – improved 
management in organisations delivering 
sport and recreation services.

2. People development in sport and 
recreation: providing information, advice 
and education support to personnel 
involved in sport and recreation service 
delivery (e.g. coaches, officials, local 
governments, facility and trails managers, 
administrators and volunteers).

The strategic intent:

• Participation – physically active 
lifestyles for Western Australians.

• Achievement – encouraging 
the pursuit of excellence.

• Developing people – development of skilled 
and informed people in service delivery.

3. Recreation Camps management: provide 
opportunities for the community to increase 
participation in outdoor activities.

The strategic intent:

• Recreation Camps management – provide 
the community with quality, affordable 
outdoor recreation camp opportunities 
through a sustainable camps network.

The goals aligned to these outputs form 
the framework of this annual report.

Hon Mick Murray MLA  
Minister for Sport and Recreation;  
Seniors and Ageing; Volunteering.



Foreword
The last 12 months have once again 
been full of activity and change. As with 
many industries, sport and recreation has 
continued to do more with less. We’ve 
had to be innovative, collaborative and 
creative, particularly in a capital city and 
regional centres which continue to grow. 

In light of that we’ve continued to make sure 
as many people as possible are encouraged 
and able to participate in sport and recreation, 
regardless of their age, ability, background 
or economic circumstances. Whether it be 
through programs we fund or through our 
communications to stakeholders and the 
public, we’ve worked hard to highlight the 
physical benefits of being active. We’ve also 
made sure people know the mental and 
emotional positives which come from getting 
off the couch, getting out into WA’s amazing 
outdoors and doing it with friends and family.

We continue to applaud all the volunteers who 
give back and make sport and recreation run, 
alongside the clubs and associations who 
not only teach our kids sporting skills but life 
values including fairness and leadership. 

We work closely with State Sporting 
Associations and Industry Representative 
Organisations on everything from governance 
to program delivery and general support. We 
also look forward to continuing our strong 
working relationship with local governments 
and not-for-profit groups who are at the 
coalface delivering programs and services. 

In this Annual Report you’ll see the depth and 
breadth of what we do, whether it’s funding 
facilities through the Community Sporting and 
Recreation Facilities Fund, the programs we 
support for migrants through the Edmund Rice 
Centre or Communicare or giving kids unique 
experiences at one of the five camps we run. 

This year saw Perth Stadium workforce 
peak at more than 1300 workers in the 
lead-up to its 2018 opening. The Stadium 
and the surrounding Stadium Park will be 

world-class and will attract international 
and domestic events and visitors as well 
as being a destination for all Western 
Australians to enjoy year-round.

As of 30 June 2017 we said goodbye to 
the Department of Sport and Recreation, 
changed our jersey and reconfigured to 
form the Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries.

I’d like to acknowledge Ron Alexander 
for leading the agency for almost two 
decades. He has been instrumental 
in creating a culture of innovation and 
excellence while tirelessly encouraging us 
to never lose the passion for what we do. 

Expect us to continue our mission to get 
as many people as possible participating 
in sport and active recreation at every 
level and in every community.

Graham Brimage 
Executive Director, Sport and Recreation (WA) 
Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries

September 2017
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A Brief History

Over the years, and in various guises, sport and recreation has been a 
strong leader in the State Government of Western Australia. Before being 
officially designated as a government department in 1979, the various 
councils that had previously represented the sport and recreation portfolio 
had already set strong traditions in industry leadership, assistance to 
community sport and recreation organisations and emphasised the benefits 
and importance of physical activity through sport and recreation.

Since becoming a government department, we have been a small but mighty 
organisation. As the last stand-alone sport and recreation department in 
Australia, we have led and guided the sport and recreation industry as well as 
motivated other sectors to have beneficial outcomes for sport and recreation. 
We’re hugely proud of the thousands of Western Australians and their 
communities we’ve encouraged and supported to become more active. 

A brief history of the Department of Sport and Recreation (DSR)

Western Australian  
Council of Physical Fitness1939
National Fitness 
Council1940
Community 
Recreation Council1973
Department of Youth 
Sport and Recreation1978
Department for Sport 
and Recreation1985
Ministry of Sport 
and Recreation1989
Department of Sport 
and Recreation (DSR)2001

Summary of name changes
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Policy development
DSR has a history of bringing together leading 
figures in the sport and recreation industry to 
think strategically about what challenges and 
opportunities lay ahead. This has manifested 
itself in the development of Strategic 
Directions for the Western Australian Sport 
and Recreation Industry, which was first 
published by the Western Australian Sport 
and Recreation Council in 1997 with the sixth 
iteration created in 2016. For almost 20 years, 
these documents have provided vision and 
direction for the industry and have guided the 
development of initiatives by both government 
and non-government organisations.

The Premier’s Physical Activity Taskforce, 
a major state government initiative to oversee 
the development and implementation of 
a whole of community physical activity 
strategy for WA was chaired and supported 
by DSR. From 2001 – 2012 the DSR-led 
taskforce had a strong mandate to coordinate 
physical activity policy and strategy 
across government and the community. 

Western Australia is today recognised as a 
leading state in trails strategy and planning. 
In 2001, DSR brought the Trailswest Advisory 
Group into its operations and continues 
to convene the Trails Reference Group. 
Over the last 22 years there have been 
a number of trails strategies developed 
and successfully implemented in WA, 
which have and will continue to underpin 
the development of trails and associated 
infrastructure. DSR has maintained a 
close association with Lotterywest in the 
continued delivery of funding for the planning, 
construction and promotion of trails. 

In 2009, DSR and Curtin University struck 
up a unique collaboration, creating the 
Curtin Centre for Sport and Recreation 
Research as an independent advocacy and 
research centre to inform public policy and 
practice in the field of sport and recreation. 

Sport and recreation is not just about winning, 
it’s about helping build stronger, healthier, 
happier, and safer communities. DSR has 
worked widely across government and in 
the community to advocate for sport and 
recreation as a tool to contribute to social 
policy outcomes. It is continuously engaging 
with justice, regional development, Aboriginal 
affairs, health, education, water, tourism, 
parks and wildlife and tourism, to contribute 
to community health and wellbeing.

Places and Spaces
For more than 40 years, Community Sporting 
and Recreation Facilities Funding has 
provided financial assistance to community 
groups and local government authorities to 
develop basic infrastructure for sport and 
recreation. Since 1976, over 4250 grants have 
been made to an approximate value of $333 
million. This has leveraged over $1 billion 
worth of investment in community facilities 
including playing surfaces, clubrooms, 
change rooms and floodlighting, generated 
by the targeted allocation of government 
funds through a competitive process. 

DSR masterminded the development of 
a new plan for a new century – the State 
Sporting Facilities Plan – first developed in 
2001 and regularly updated since, serves as 
a blueprint for the provision of state, national 
and international level infrastructure. Since 
2003, the State Sporting Infrastructure Fund 
has invested approximately $30 million in 
projects such as the new WA Small Bore Rifle 
and WA Rifle facilities and major upgrades to 
the Loftus Centre, Baseball Park, Wanneroo 
Raceway, Perth Hockey Stadium, State 
Tennis Centre and State Equestrian Centre. 
Through DSR, the State Government has 
invested approximately $100 million to build 
the WA Basketball Centre, WA Athletics 
Stadium and WA Rugby Centre, $95 million 
to redevelop nib Stadium, $33.7 million for 
the WAIS High Performance Service Centre 
and $26 million for the State Netball Centre.

Key achievements over the years
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Perth’s newest facility, the Perth Stadium 
and Stadium Park is the largest piece of 
sporting infrastructure ever to be built in 
Western Australia and will open in early 2018. 
DSR is the client agency for the project and 
responsible for defining the service scope plus 
functional requirements to ensure that this 
world-class facility is fit for purpose for fans 
and the different events it will host. DSR has 
also co-chaired the Perth Stadium Steering 
Committee and leads the communications 
and stakeholder management for the project, 
liaising with a range of internal and external 
stakeholders including the Stadium’s nine 
User Groups, project staff, contractors, 
media, future Stadium users, local residents 
and the public. DSR’s involvement in the 
Perth Stadium project builds on a strong 
history of successfully delivering international 
sport and recreation events, including 
being the only city in the world to host two 
FINA World Swimming Championships. 

By the early 1980s, there were already five 
regional offices across the State, which 
would expand to 10 offices with the addition 
of the Peel office in 1998. Since 1995, DSR 
has provided free office accommodation to 
regional sport and recreation officers across 
the state through Sportshouses. This has 
been a cost-effective and efficient way to 
support and achieve sustainable outcomes 
for sport and recreation in regional WA. The 
co-location of DSR personnel with staff from 
State Sporting Associations and regional/
local associations encourages collaboration 
and creative thinking around programs. 

Over the past 15 years, access to places 
and spaces for sport and recreation has 
been a contentious issue for the sport and 
recreation industry, from the policy debate 
and subsequent Parliamentary Inquiry 
into Recreation Activities within Public 
Drinking Water Source areas, to the size 
and distribution of public open space. DSR 
has established an ongoing collaborative 
working relationship with government and 
industries, water, health, parks and wildlife, 
universities, education, planning and tourism.

Participation 
The Sport 4 All package commenced in 
2011, responding to a range of issues and 
opportunities facing the sport and active 
recreation industry in Western Australia. 
The six-year program has received over 
$33.8 million to fund four initiatives: 
KidSport, Nature Play WA, Community 
Volunteer Program and ClubTalk. Since 
2011, KidSport has provided 141,227 
vouchers to 70,339 children, enabling 
those from financially-constrained families 
to participate and enjoy the many benefits 
of sport. KidSport was awarded a 2014 
Premier’s Award for Excellence in Public 
Sector Management, in the Strengthening 
Families and Communities category.
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The highly successful Sportsfun program, 
a sports leadership program for secondary 
school students, was first piloted in Western 
Australia in 1987. Within three years it became 
a national program and was run successfully 
throughout Australia and overseas. DSR 
continued to offer the program until 2012.  
At the height of the program up to 2000 
leaders were providing sports coaching to up 
to 9000 children with 172 schools involved.

In 1979, the Recreation and Reserves Board 
was established to operate and regulate 11 
camps and two major recreation reserves. 
The Recreation Camps and Reserves Board 
was supported by DSR (and its predecessors) 
and in 2005 DSR took over the management 
and responsibility for the four remaining 
recreation camps, adding Camp Quaranup 
in 2015. The camps are vital in providing 
affordable, safe and enjoyable entry level 
participation experiences. Most of the camps 
were acquired by DSR’s predecessors in 
the 1970s/1980s. Over the years, DSR has 
greatly improved the quality of the facilities 
and expanded the recreation options. 

In 1982, with an eye to the ageing population, 
a branch of the Department was established 
to promote recreation for older adults 
and seniors. In 1991, this function was 
largely absorbed by Seniors Recreation 
Council, which is still recognised as the peak 
body for organisations supporting seniors’ 
involvement in sport and recreation. DSR 
continues to contribute core funding support 
and in-kind assistance to the council. 

The Country Sport Enrichment Scheme 
has been running for over 20 years, 
assisting regional Western Australia to 
experience and conduct major sporting 
events and sport development initiatives. 

DSR has a strong history of supporting 
low participation groups, including the 
Aboriginal community. For 20 years, DSR 
worked with Aboriginal Sport Development 
Officers to achieve beneficial outcomes in 
regional WA. DSR formed strong relationships 
with organisations including the Wirrpanda 
Foundation in the Great Southern, Garnduwa 
in the Kimberly and Newcrest Mining in the 
Pilbara, which have run significant DSR-
supported programs in their regions. In 
more recent years, DSR has engaged with 
the Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 
communities, working with groups like the 
Edmund Rice Centre and Communicare, 
to extend the benefits of sport and 
recreation to the broader community. 

Getting people moving, changing 
behaviours and using active transport 
was initiated through the innovative 
Your Move program. Collaboration with 
state government departments and local 
government is now a benchmark in how 
community services can be delivered.
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Key achievements over the years

Achievement
Since 1995, DSR has invested over $8.7 
million in supporting talented young 
athletes through various initiatives including 
financial assistance to attend training and 
competitions, as well as assisting their 
personal development to engage in healthy 
behaviours and make positive decisions. 

DSR has a positive relationship with the 
Western Australian Institute of Sport 
(WAIS), which was created to provide 
opportunities for Western Australia’s 
elite and developing elite athletes to 
achieve international success. Originally 
a branch of the Department, it was 
established as a separate entity in 1983.

DSR continued to be the principal partner 
of WAIS, providing $33.73 million to fund 
the WAIS High Performance Service 
Centre which opened in 2015. The Centre 
will support WA’s aspiring athletes for 
generations to come. WAIS’ core operations 
are also funded by DSR, which supports 
12 sports programs as well as the daily 
training environment of individual athletes.

DSR contributed heavily to the development of 
Future Success in 2002 and Future Success 
in 2011, which were strategic plans for high 
performance sport in Western Australia. The 
plans grew out of a need for ongoing, clear 
strategic direction and leadership in this 
component of the broader sporting landscape.

DSR supports not only prowess on the field or 
court, but also excellence within organisations 
and non-playing contributions, DSR has 
proudly delivered the Sport and Recreation 
Industry Awards and the Coaches and 
Officials Awards for the last two decades. 
Such awards are an opportunity to formally 
recognise innovation and excellence in 
the pursuit of best practice in Western 
Australia’s sport and recreation industry.

Capacity Building
The relationships with State Sporting 
Associations and Industry Representative 
Groups have been a cornerstone of DSR’s 
industry engagement. DSR’s investment 
in key WA sport and active recreation 
industries enhances the opportunities in 
which Western Australians can be active 
as well as the capacity of organisations to 
deliver in a welcoming, safe, effective and 
sustainable environment. Since 2001, we’ve 
invested more than $97 million through the 
Organisational Sustainability Program. 

The Club Development Officer Scheme is 
a conduit between DSR and the community, 
through one of its most important partners, 
local governments. The scheme is now in its 
11th year, with funding of over $8.6 million 
provided since 2006/07 and has achieved 
significant success in providing community 
level support for sport and active recreation 
clubs. Success has seen the scheme 
more than double from the initial 17 Club 
Development Officers servicing 33 local 
governments in 2006 to 42 officers who 
service 60 local governments in 2014/2015. 

Volunteers are the backbone of the sport and 
recreation industry. DSR has been committed 
to supporting volunteers, through the National 
Volunteer Program in 1994, to partnering with 
Rio Tinto to deliver the Volunteer Management 
Program in the early 2000s, to the Community 
Volunteer Project as part of the Sport 4 All 
initiative. As not all sporting organisations 
have the capacity to help celebrate the 
contribution of their volunteers, since 2001, 
DSR has run a Volunteers Breakfast to 
thank volunteers for their years of service.
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The WA Sports Federation (WASF) is the 
peak industry body for sport in Western 
Australia. It exists to promote, strengthen 
and advocate for sport and active recreation 
in Western Australia. DSR has partnered 
with the WASF to ensure a collaborative 
effort across the sport and recreation 
industry in response to industry challenges 
such as Changing Attitudes to Alcohol 
Through Sport, Fair Safe Sport and the 
establishment of a dispute resolution service.

DSR has formed successful partnerships with 
a range of peak bodies in sport and recreation 
to build overall capability in the market, 
including Parks and Leisure Australia (WA), 
Leisure Institute of WA (LIWA Aquatics), Trails 
WA, Outdoors WA and Fitness Australia.

In 1987, Parliament passed the Boxing 
Control Act 1987. Since then, the sport 
and recreation portfolio has played an 
important role in providing Western 
Australians with meaningful health and 
safety protections when participating in 
combat sport. Over the years, the relevant 
commissions – currently the Combat Sports 
Commission – have been supported by 
DSR to ensure that the industry upholds 
appropriate healthy and safety standards 
and engages in sound business practices.
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A vehicle for positive social change

Sport and recreation is not a luxury, it’s one of the most cost-effective 
investments any government can make to achieve a better society. 

We all want to be physically and mentally healthy. We all want 
our kids to do better at school. We all want a stronger, healthier, 
happier and safer community. Increasing participation in sport 
and recreation can help achieve all these important goals.

Sport and recreation is a  
vehicle for positive social change

Education
Children who are more physically active learn better.

Health
If you’re more physically active you’ll be physically healthier, but  
the research also shows people who are more active are more  
mentally healthy.

A happier and safer community
Sport and recreation clubs are the glue that holds many communities 
together. They are positive places where people meet, and the more 
people in a neighbourhood or community who know each other 
in a positive context, the happier and safer that community is.

Crime prevention
Sport and recreation programs are some of the most cost-effective 
crime prevention programs available. Sport has the power to engage 
young people and once engaged they are likely to be open to change. 
At the very least, sport programs run on targeted days and times 
are very effective at diverting youth at risk of anti-social activities.
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Sport and recreation contributes 
to the triple bottom line

Environment
Parks, public open spaces 
and native places contribute to 
improved biodiversity, improved 
air quality, reduced ambient 
temperatures and assist in 
maintaining local ecosystems. 
They also provide great places 
for kids and adults to be active.

Social
Sport and recreation encourages 
volunteering and builds stronger, 
more connected communities 
through social interaction 
and participation in activities. 
This reduces isolation and 
improves social capital.

Economy
Being active reduces absenteeism 
in the workplace and increases 
the need for services that support 
growth in the sport and recreation 
industry and associated industries 
such as tourism and retail.
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Industry Development
To keep our industry thriving, we must invest 
in it. The Department remains proactive in 
advocating the undeniable benefits of sport and 
recreation and we take every opportunity to talk 
about the projects which further that agenda.

Our portfolio of community funding and programs is diverse, 
making sure that as many sectors and people as possible are 
able to take part in sport and active recreation and lead healthier 
lifestyles. We take an active role in progressing a shared 
policy agenda across government in areas like water, health, 
education, justice, tourism, urban planning and Aboriginal affairs 
to effect more holistic changes. It’s also important we lead 
the way in offering guidance, potential strategies and a focal 
point on issues which affect our industry, like sports integrity.

13
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These are the projects which help develop 
our industry and further policy:

SD6
In April 2016 the Department hosted the 
launch of Strategic Directions for the Sport 
and Recreation Industry 2016 – 2020 (SD6). 
The sixth iteration of the Strategic Directions 
series has guided the contributions of the 
sport and recreation industry towards building 
an active, healthy and engaged Western 
Australian community for over 20 years. 
The Department has taken the lead role in 
facilitating the activation of SD6 through 
convening stakeholder groups to engage with 
the 13 challenges identified by SD6 for the 
next five years. The Department will continue 
to play an active role in encouraging industry 
engagement with SD6 over the life of the 
document, as well as using the document in 
the Department’s own strategic planning.

Research agenda
The Department has an on-going relationship 
with the Centre for Sport and Recreation 
Research, an independent advocacy and 
research body hosted by Curtin University 
that generates applied research to inform 
public policy and practice in the field of sport 
and recreation. The Department maintains 
close ties with UWA’s School of Population 
Health and its work relating to sport and 
active recreation, particularly in relation 
to young children’s physical activity.

AusPlay
The Department now uses AusPlay, a 
national population tracking survey funded 
and managed by the Australian Sports 
Commission (ASC). It provides sport and 
recreation industry stakeholders with vital 
insight and information to support planning, 
policy and program delivery.  

AusPlay is an independent research project 
administered annually via telephone survey 
with over 20,000 adults aged 15 years 
Australia-wide (including 2,500 adults from 
Western Australia) and approximately 3,600 
children aged 0 – 14 years Australia-wide.

Policy contribution
The Department provided significant input 
to agencies at State and federal level, with 
a shared policy agenda that included:

• Providing a sport and recreation 
perspective on the draft Perth and 
Peel Green Growth Plan for $3.5 
million coordinated by the Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet.

• Coordinating a response of all State and 
Territory governments to the Australian 
Sports Commission’s Governance 
Reform in Sport: Discussion Paper.

• Assisting the Department of 
Planning in the review of the 
Liveable Neighbourhoods policy.

• Contributing to the WA Reference Group 
on the Royal Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse.

• Providing input into Council of 
Australian Governments Countering 
Violent Extremism subcommittee.

• Continuing to facilitate an inter-agency 
working group focussed on recreational 
access to water catchments.

• Providing input into the following 
Commonwealth of Australia Sport 
and Recreation Officials working 
groups: Research Group, National 
Safeguarding Children in Sport, 
Participation Collaboration, National 
Active Recreation, Women in Sport, 
Combat Sports and Sport Governance.

• Providing strategic coordination of 
South West, Peel and Great Southern 
Development Commission mountain 
bike trail development projects.
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Industry Development

Policy representation
The Department actively participated 
and contributed to the following 
groups, amongst many others:

• Reference Group – Strategic Directions 
for the Western Australian Sport and 
Recreation Industry 2016 – 2020

• Social Cohesion Strategy Group 
(Office of Multicultural Interests)

• Board of Healthway
• Perth Stadium Steering Committee
• UWA Turf Industries Research 

Steering Committee
• Aboriginal Youth Services Implementation 

and Leadership Group
• Board of the Western Australian 

Institute of Sport
• North Metropolitan Region and South 

East Region Recreation Advisory Groups
• Heart Foundation’s Healthy Active by 

Design Project Management Group
• Royalties for Regions Directors 

General Reference Group 
• Ageing in WA, Senior Officers Group
• Countering Violent Extremism 

Intervention Steering Group
• Australia’s Strategy for Protecting 

Crowded Spaces from Terrorism.

Sport International program
The Department’s Sport International program 
maintains and develops links through sport 
and recreation in the Asian and Indian Ocean 
Rim that deliver tangible economic, social 
and geopolitical benefits to the State.

Integrity in sport 
The Department is committed to the 
promotion of a positive sport culture. The 
traditionally positive image and reputation 
of sport is under threat from a variety 
of negative influences and incidents, 
including performance enhancing and illicit 
drugs, risks to child safety, violence and 
inappropriate behaviours including match-
fixing. The Department holds strong positions 
on integrity and value-based issues.

To assist the industry in safeguarding the 
integrity and value of sport it provides 
funding for the following program initiatives:

• Fair Safe Sport Strategy
• Top Club
• Sports Drug Education Program and Testing
• Sports Betting Initiative
• Play By The Rules.
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Places and Spaces
To maintain a thriving sport and recreation system 
now and into the future, we need to have spaces 
to play sport and enjoy active recreation. DSR 
must optimise the State’s investment in facilities 
at a State, regional and community level. 

We strive to influence policy in key portfolios that impact on 
sport and active recreation, like planning, water, environment 
and regional development to ensure its importance is 
considered and provided for. We also believe it’s vital to 
be an active part of strategic planning for key activities to 
guide investments like the Western Australian Mountain 
Bike Strategy and the State Sporting Facilities Plan.
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Outdoors and Recreation

Trails Industry Forums
Trails Industry Forums were held in 
Mandurah in November 2016 and in 
Perth in May 2017. They brought together 
land managers, local government, trails 
advocates, outdoor instructors, educators 
and volunteers to share knowledge and 
learn from leading figures in the field. 

Western Australian Strategic 
Trails Blueprint 2017 – 2021
The Western Australian Strategic Trails 
Blueprint 2017 – 2021 highlights opportunities 
to create trail towns and trail networks, 
generating new tourism opportunities for 
regional economies and the metropolitan 
area. The blueprint provides a roadmap for 
the creation of walking, cycling, mountain 
biking, horse riding, snorkeling and canoeing 
trails throughout Western Australia. It 
was launched at the opening the Perth 
Trails Industry Forum in May 2017.

Trails Reference Group
The Trails Reference Group comprises 
government and industry representatives who 
influence and guide the planning, development 
and communication of actions that support 
the directions enshrined in the Western 
Australian Strategic Trails Blueprint 2017 – 
2021. We’ll continue to support the Trails 
Reference Group to implement key actions 
and initiatives identified in the blueprint.

Lotterywest Trails Funding
The Department works with Lotterywest 
in the continued delivery of funding for the 
planning, construction and promotion of 
trails. Thirteen projects totalling approximately 
$800,000 were approved by the Department. 
Funding supported walking, mountain 
biking and horse riding trails projects in 
Perth and the Mid West, South West and 
Great Southern regions. These trails are 
designed to promote physical activity and 
community connection through environmental, 
cultural and heritage interpretation. 

ParklandWA
ParklandWA was formed to implement the 
outcomes of the State Public Parkland 
Strategy and was a collaboration between 
the Department and the Planning Institute 
of Australia WA. Following release of the 
Public Open Space (POS) Strategy Guide 
for Local Government – an online resource 
developed by ParklandWA – the Department 
partnered with Parks and Leisure Australia 
(WA) to deliver workshops to assist with POS 
strategy development and implementation.

Sport and Recreation and Public Health
Following the publication of Sport and 
Recreation and Public Health: a resource 
for community sector professionals working 
in local government, the Department 
partnered with Parks and Leisure Australia 
(WA) to deliver a series of metropolitan 
and regional workshops designed to assist 
local government to integrate sport and 
recreation and public health planning. 
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Infrastructure

State Sporting Facilities Plan / State 
Sporting Infrastructure Fund
• Asset Management Plans: Following work 

completed in 2015/16, the Department 
continued with a program of completing 
Asset Management Plans for state sporting 
facilities in consultation with relevant 
State Sporting Associations. Plans were 
completed for Baseball Park, State 
Equestrian Centre, Rowing Centre and 
State Table Tennis Centre. These plans 
assist us in prioritising investment from 
the State Sporting Infrastructure Fund.

• Aquatic Sports Headquarters Feasibility 
Study: Considers the co-locational 
benefits of housing the Royal Life Saving 
Society of WA, Swimming WA, Masters 
Swimming WA, Synchronised Swimming 
WA, Diving WA and Water Polo WA in 
shared administrative space. The study 
also investigated options for future 
accommodation requirements and broad 
options analysis for possible locations.

• Baseball Park lighting upgrade: Following 
the completion of a master plan and 
business case process in 2014, Baseball 
WA have progressed through the planning 
and design stages of the master plan. The 
Department provided funding to Baseball 
WA to upgrade the lighting at Baseball 
Park. Work also commenced on additional 
ablutions and a new announcers podium.

• Perth Hockey Stadium: $860,000 
from the State Sporting Infrastructure 
Fund to Hockey WA to replace the 
roof of the Perth Hockey Stadium 
and replace the lighting on pitch 1.

• State Softball Centre: $300,000 from the 
State Sporting Infrastructure Fund to 
Softball WA to complete a lighting upgrade 
at the State Softball Centre in Mirrabooka. 

• State Tennis Centre: $655,000 through 
the State Sporting Infrastructure Fund for 
priority works on the administration building 
at the State Tennis Centre identified in the 
business case completed in 2015/16.

• WACA Ground Future Planning: The 
Department continued to provide 
assistance to the Western Australian 
Cricket Association (WACA) in their 
planning for the redevelopment of the 
WACA Ground. The State Sporting Facilities 
Plan (2013) Stadium Hierarchy Model has 
been used as the guiding policy framework.

• WA Rifle Association replacement 
facility: Construction of the WA Rifle 
Association’s (WARA) facility in Pinjar 
commenced in October 2015 and 
substantial progress was made in 
2016/17 with construction essentially 
completed. The facility will be opened 
for ballistic sport in September 2017.

Community Infrastructure Investment
• The Cockburn ARC project was 

completed and opened to the public.
• Centennial Park (Albany) western precinct 

and the sport and recreation components 
of the eastern precinct were completed.

• Shared rugby and soccer building at 
Hay Park (Bunbury) was opened.

• Upgrades to floodlighting, storage 
and the soccer pavilion at Hartfield 
Park (Kalamunda) was completed.

• Substantial progress was made in the 
redevelopment of Lathlain Park. 

• We continued our role on the 
Ravenswood Regional Open Space 
Project Steering Committee.
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Perth Stadium
Construction of Perth Stadium and 
the surrounding Stadium Park is 
nearing 90% completion and is on 
schedule to open in early 2018.

Perth Stadium will be a 60,000 seat 
multi-purpose venue capable of hosting 
Australian Rules Football, rugby union 
and league, football (soccer) and cricket 
as well as entertainment events.

The Department of Sport and Recreation 
is the client agency for Perth Stadium 
and is responsible for defining the service 
scope plus functional requirements.

There were several milestones achieved 
during the 2016/17 financial year starting 
with the announcement that HG Sports 
Turf was awarded the contract to prepare 
the playing surface and grow and install 
more than 18,000 square metres of turf. 

The turf is a mix of artificial and natural 
turf, which is successfully used at a variety 
of stadia throughout Australia including 
the Melbourne Cricket Ground and nib 
Stadium. It’s being grown at a local turf 
farm in Serpentine and installed onto Perth 
Stadium’s playing surface in August 2017.

Earlier in 2017, installation of the Stadium’s 
lighting system commenced. The venue 
will have the biggest LED sports lighting 
installation in the world, catering for the 
multiple sports and entertainment events that 
can be held at the venue. An additional fabric 
roof lighting system allows the roof to act 
as a giant canvas, capable of showcasing a 
variety of colours in numerous configurations.

Installation of the Stadium’s giant screens 
commenced in March 2017 with pre-
commissioning testing during April 2017. 
Two giant screens, the largest stadia 
screens in the southern hemisphere, are 
located at the western and eastern ends 
of the Stadium and will show live play, 
replays, statistics and information.

Western Australian companies are continuing 
to benefit from the construction of this world-
class venue with more than $472.8 million 
worth of contracts awarded – approximately 
83% of the total value of all contracts.
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A series of artworks were also unveiled on 
site. A poem titled Kaya, created by Professor 
Kym Scott, has been etched into 68 pre-cast 
concrete panels that circle the podium level of 
the Stadium. The poem interweaves 11 verses 
of Noongar prose with six verses of English 
text and recognises the convergence of 
cheering crowds. In December 2016, Western 
Australian Aboriginal artist, Barry McGuire 
revealed two 4.2m cast bronze message 
sticks in Stadium Park, bookending the 
200 metre BHP Boardwalk. Message sticks 
have traditionally been used to bring people 
together in one place and the angle of the 
message sticks reflects the idea of passing 
from one hand to another. Each message 
stick sits on top of a concrete plinth and has 
in-built technology that will allow them to be 
showcased during the day and lit up at night.

In April 2017, the design of the redeveloped 
Burswood Golf Clubhouse was revealed 
showcasing the new micro-brewery, bar, 
restaurant and function room facilities. 
Named The Camfield, it will be located near 
the Burswood landing of the Swan River 
Pedestrian Bridge and will open in early 2018.

The construction of the Perth Stadium 
transport infrastructure has also been 
a huge focus across the year. A series 
of line shutdowns were required to 

construct the new rail line passing through 
Perth Stadium Station. Construction of 
the station is nearing completion with 
the testing and commissioning phase 
scheduled to commence in August 2017.

Construction of the Swan River Pedestrian 
Bridge, the Perth Stadium Bus Station and 
upgrades to East Perth Station and Victoria 
Park Drive all continue in conjunction 
with Perth Stadium construction.

Several major events were announced for 
the Stadium: Game Two of the 2019 State 
of Origin, the 2019 Bledisloe Cup match, 
Chelsea F.C. plays a friendly against Perth 
Glory and music superstar Ed Sheeran 
kicks off his 2018 Australian tour.

VenuesLive has been appointed Perth 
Stadium operator and will be responsible 
for the day-to-day management of the 
Stadium and Stadium Park from 2018. 
This includes the delivery of catering, 
ticketing and waste management services, 
the hiring of approximately 2,000 casual 
event day staff and working with Tourism 
WA and VenuesWest to secure a range 
of exciting events for the venue.
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Community Pool 
Revitalisation Program
In the 2016/17 funding round of the 
Community Pool Revitalisation Program, 
91 regional aquatic centres and four water 
playgrounds (where they are the primary 
aquatic facility in the town) received a total of 
$2,923,728 towards maintenance, upgrades, 
purchase of pool equipment and staff training.

The Leisure Institute of Western Australia 
Aquatics received a grant of $176,272 to:

• Audit eight pools to achieve 
Waterwise specification.

• Provide 10 scholarships to regional 
female industry participants to 
undertake Pool Operations training.

• Carry out Pool Operations Training 
for 30 regional pool participants.

• Give financial assistance for 100 
regional lifeguard requalifications. 

• Provide 95 lifesaving manikins for in-house 
community training for use in regional WA. 

• Provide water testing kits and 
inflatables to eligible pools. 

Funding for this annual program has 
been made possible through the State 
Government’s Royalties for Regions program.

Community Sporting and Recreation 
Facilities Fund (CSRFF)
Each year, community groups and local 
government authorities across the State 
receive financial assistance to develop 
basic infrastructure for sport and recreation. 
This was achieved in 2016/17 through 
a State Government Treasury Trust 
Fund administered by the Department 
called the Community Sporting and 
Recreation Facilities Fund (CSRFF).

The provision of well-planned capital 
works for facilities leads to an increase in 
physical activity levels and research shows 
participation in physical activity especially 
in a club environment, makes individuals 

healthier, happier and their communities 
stronger and safer places to live.

Communities are ultimately the beneficiaries 
of these projects. Priority is given to projects 
that lead to facility sharing and rationalisation, 
multipurpose infrastructure required to meet 
similar needs and increased sustainability.

The grants are allocated over three 
financial years. In 2016/17, funds were 
allocated for 2017/18 through to 2019/20. 
Grants are categorised into Small, 
Annual or Forward Planning Grants:

• Small Grants are offered twice a year 
and allocated to projects valued 
between $7,500 and $200,000.

• Annual Grants are allocated to projects with 
an estimated value of between $200,001 
and $500,000. Grants in this category must 
be claimed in the 2017/18 financial year.

• Forward-planning Grants are allocated 
to more complex projects requiring 
extensive planning, with a total 
value in excess of $500,000.

In 2016/17 through the CSRFF program 
$14,984,800 in grants were allocated 
to 80 facilities projects State-wide.

Great Southern Regional Sporting 
Facilities Plan
The Department continued working on the 
Great Southern Regional Sporting Facilities 
Plan. The plan is supported by the local 
governments across the Great Southern 
Region and aims to develop a consolidated 
strategic approach to the development of 
regional facilities.

Western Australian Football 
League (WAFL) Grounds
The Department continued its role on the 
Bassendean Oval Stakeholder Reference Group.
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Organisational Development
The business of sport demands stable foundations, 
especially when most of our human resources 
are volunteers and community-based. 

Just like an athlete needs good skills to play well, our sporting 
organisations must govern strongly and fairly, be advocates 
and know how to value and educate their people. Our job 
is to support them and provide training to deliver what we 
believe is one of the best sports systems in the world.
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Western Australian Sports 
Federation (WASF)
We’ve invested in the Western Australian 
Sports Federation to ensure a collaborative 
effort across the sporting industry in 
response to the following challenges:

• Improving corporate governance practices.
• Maximising community inclusion.
• Developing socially-responsible clubs and 

behaviours relating to the management and 
consumption of alcohol and club culture.

• Child safe sporting environments 
and compliance with Working 
with Children Legislation.

• Promoting enterprise best practice, 
intelligence and innovation to enable WA 
sport to work towards a more financially 
independent and sustainable future.

Australian Institute of Management 
(Foundations and Advanced Courses)
$40,000
75 board members and chairpersons 
enhanced their capacity to assist in 
the governance of sport and recreation 
organisations in association with the 
Australian Institute of Management.

Human Resources and Diversity Project
$268,000
42 organisations were provided with an HR 
review and identification of opportunities. 
17 organisations supported with a diversity 
review followed by ongoing support to 
progress a change management plan. 

Board Evaluation Project
Assists voluntary boards in our industry to 
understand best practice governance and 
identify opportunities for improvement.

Organisational Sustainability 
Program (OSP) Funding
The Department is committed to 
working with sport and active recreation 
organisations to develop and pursue 
diverse opportunities for participation, 
a philosophy of good governance and 
continuous improvement. Through OSP 
$8 million of funding was allocated to 
93 State Sporting Associations and 
Industry Representative Organisations.

The program aims to enhance:

• Delivery of a variety of activities and 
opportunities that address community 
needs, particularly in relation to 
changing trends and how people 
engage in sport and recreation.

• Capacity of organisations to provide 
a welcoming and safe environment 
in which to participate.

• Expertise to support and enrich the 
culture of organisations in relation to their 
business development and growth.

• Capacity and strength of the 
community in Western Australia 
through sport and recreation.

Dispute Resolution Service 
$50,000
Delivered by WASF, the Dispute 
Resolution Service offers advice, referral, 
education and mediation to the sport 
and active recreation industry.

Financial Management Support Project
$170,000
The Financial Management Support Project 
(Phase 4) improves the financial management 
processes, analysis and planning of State 
Sporting Associations, Industry Representative 
Organisations and affiliate clubs.

The following examples are ways we invest in sport 
and active recreation organisational development:
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Get Onboard And Lead (GOAL)
Get Onboard And Lead is an initiative to 
increase the contribution of women to the 
sport and recreation industry, particularly in 
leadership roles. GOAL builds on existing 
systems already in place in the industry to 
make it easier for all women to advance as 
leaders on and off the field. Key components 
of GOAL include agreed female diversity 
targets, scholarships and grants, recruiting 
key decision makers in the industry to 
promote and champion for women in 
leadership and the benefits of diversity in 
sport governance and management.

In the last year activities have included:

• 45 women participated in 
Boardroom Readiness and 
Boardroom Leadership training.

• Eight SSAs/IROs engaged in 
Champions of Change program.

• All OSP-funded organisations 
have set female diversity targets 
over a three-year period.

• 42 SSAs/IROs engaged through the 
HR and Diversity Project. Organisations 
have been reviewed and change 
management plans developed in 
the area of HR and/or diversity.

• Gender Analysis Project (GAP) online 
tool developed to provide analysis 
of gender diversity on boards and 
committees of SSAs and clubs. Tip 
sheets have been developed to provide 
guidance and advice for organisations 
wishing to strengthen their women in 
leadership initiatives and practices.

Dr Heather MacGowan 
OAM Scholarships
$9,500
These annual scholarships contribute to 
the development of future leaders within 
State Sporting Associations and Industry 
Representative Organisations while 
acknowledging Dr MacGowan’s commitment 
and contribution to our industry.

Women in Leadership 
$66,000
Women in Sport and Recreation Project 
An initiative to improve board and 
management diversity in the sport 
and recreation industry. 

Champions of Change  
Cultural change program aimed at leaders 
of State Sporting Associations and Peak 
Industry Bodies. The Champions of Change 
consist of eight inaugural member SSAs.

Sport and Club Business 
Workshop Series
$80,000
Sport-specific workshops provided for 
both State Sporting Associations and 
clubs. 30 workshops were delivered across 
the State to increase capacity in the 
areas of governance, planning, workforce 
planning and financial management.

Financial Management Support Project
$170,000
The Financial Management Support Project 
(Phase 4) improves the financial management 
processes, analysis and planning of State 
Sporting Associations, Industry Representative 
Organisations and affiliate clubs.

Top Club
$1.3 million (over four years)

The Top Club Online Planning Tool helps 
sporting clubs identify their culture and 
develop strategies to create a strong 
and positive culture. This is a significant 
part of the wider Changing Attitudes 
to Alcohol Through Sport initiative 
which promotes the responsible service 
and consumption of alcohol in clubs. 
Partners: WASF, RAC in the Wheatbelt 
and eight State Sporting Associations. 



25

Annual Report 2016/2017

Organisational Development

Career Pathway Program
$25,000
Provides participants with an 
increased understanding of the sport 
and recreation industry and further 
develops knowledge and skills.

Club Development Scheme
$1,470,000
3,464 local community sporting clubs (1,552 
metro and 1,912 regional) are supported 
through the funding of 42 Club Development 
Officers (located in local government) to 
help them become sustainable and to 
increase participation in physical activity. 
60 local governments in WA are involved.

Volunteer Recognition
$10,000
Recognition of the outstanding 
achievements of long-serving volunteers 
by celebrating their hard work in providing 
community sporting opportunities.

Club Equipment Subsidy Scheme
$107,500 + $239,500 Royalties for Regions

The scheme assisted 479 regional and 
215 metropolitan clubs with a $500 
subsidy to purchase shared sporting 
equipment available to all members.

Fair Safe Sport Strategy
$270,000
Delivered by WASF, the Fair Safe Sport 
Strategy provides information, training 
and resources to our industry. Building the 
capacity of State Sporting Associations and 
affiliated clubs, the project’s components 
are child safety, cyber safety, member 
protection information officers’ network and 
complaint management. Partners: Working 
With Children Screening Unit, WA Police 
and Equal Opportunity Commission.

Drugs in Sport Strategy
$120,000
The Drugs in Sport Education project is 
delivered by Sports Medicine Australia 
(WA Branch) to ensure WA athletes are 
free of performance and image enhancing 
substances and other illegal drugs as well 
as being aware of the adverse effects on 
sporting performance of legal drugs like 
alcohol and tobacco. The Department has 
contracted the Australian Sports Anti-Doping 
Authority (ASADA) to conduct an Anti-Doping 
Testing Program targeting State athletes 
in the next tier down from those identified 
under the national test distribution plan.

Annual Grants Scheme
$400,000
Supported 30 State Sporting Associations 
to implement new project initiatives which 
enhanced their capacity to deliver strategic 
outcomes. Projects were awarded in the 
categories of hosting an event, participation, 
people development, organisational 
development and high performance.
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Participation
Sport and recreation is widely recognised as a 
powerful vehicle in achieving greater inclusion and 
participation. The programs we fund are designed to 
drive greater physical activity, increase participation, 
encourage inclusion and facilitate community 
development. Through these programs we work with 
a wide range of community groups and help reduce 
barriers to participating in sport and recreation.

While winning is often considered the pinnacle achievement, 
when we get more people participating in sport and recreation, 
the whole State wins. We believe that an active and inclusive 
community is a stronger, healthier, happier and safer one.

26
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ActiveSmart Wheatbelt
One of the Department’s physical activity 
behaviour change programs, ActiveSmart 
aims to increase physical activity levels 
and enhance community connectedness.

It was implemented in the Wheatbelt from May 
to December 2016 across 11 local government 
areas: Beverley, Dowerin, Goomalling, 
Koorda, Merredin, Moora, Narrogin, 
Northam, Toodyay, Wyalkatchem and York.

The program worked with participants to 
set achievable goals and connect them to 
active opportunities in their community. 
Over the eight months participants received 
personalised communication through 
direct mail and telephone conversations 
and were provided with ongoing support 
to encourage active lifestyle choices. 

Key achievements of the project included:

• 4,001 individuals registered for 
personalised goal setting and 
motivational coaching.

• Over 8,222 active lifestyle conversations 
were had with participants. 

• 86% of participants set at 
least one six-month goal.

• By the third coaching call, 54% 
of participants had achieved their 
goal and another 30% had made 
progress towards completing it. 

• 90% of participants would 
recommend ActiveSmart to others.

• 4,126 vouchers were provided to 
participants from 38 local businesses. 

• In-kind support was received 
from WA Country Health Service, 
Heart Foundation, Diabetes 
WA, Nature Play WA and all 
participating local governments. 

Your Move Wanneroo
In 2015, the Department and the Department 
of Transport implemented the behaviour 
change program Your Move in the City of 
Wanneroo. The broad-scale physical active 
transport behaviour change program engaged 
with over 10,000 residents over eight months. 

A year on, positive community results 
from the program included: 

• 9-minute average increase of daily 
physical activity per participant. 

• A net 8% shift of participants moving 
from being insufficiently active to 
now meeting the recommended 
physical activity guidelines.

• 6.1% reduction in car driver 
minutes travelled per participant. 

• 5.5% reduction in car trips 
per participant. 

Overall, Your Move Wanneroo achieved 
its program goals of increasing participant 
physical activity levels and reducing 
the number of cars on local roads. 

Your Move Wanneroo also partnered 
with the City of Wanneroo and RAC. 
Supporters included HBF, Heart Foundation, 
Bicycling WA, Diabetes WA, North Metro 
Health Service and Nature Play WA.

These are our programs which encourage greater 
participation and inclusion in sport and recreation:
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Sport 4 All 
Sport 4 All is a six-year, $30 million package 
to increase participation in community 
sport and recreation throughout Western 
Australia. Sport 4 All was originally 
comprised of the following four initiatives:

1. KidSport – encourages children from low 
socioeconomic families to join a sport 
or recreation club with the assistance of 
up to $200 towards membership fees.

2. Community Volunteer Project – provides 
innovative opportunities to train, retain 
and support community volunteers.

3. ClubTalk – provides upgrades in 
Information Communication Technology 
through grants, support and education 
to sport and recreation organisations.

4. Nature Play WA – a not-for-profit 
organisation our Department helped 
establish. It informs parents about the value 
of unstructured play outside and provides 
fun and cheap ideas to get children outside.

The Community Volunteer Project 
finished in June 2016 and this was the 
final year of ClubTalk. The Department 
continues to support clubs and volunteers 
through a number of other initiatives. 

The following is a snapshot of each 
of the programs which includes 
findings from the Sport 4 All evaluation 
which was completed this year.

KidSport
• 131 local governments engaged – 29 

metropolitan and 102 regional.
• Since 2011, KidSport has 

provided 141,227 vouchers to 
70,339 individual children.

• 68% of KidSport recipients hadn’t 
been registered in a club before. 

• More than 2,500 sport or recreation 
clubs have received a voucher.

• 33% of recipients were Aboriginal, 
Culturally and Linguistically 
Diverse or had disability.

• Over 90% of parents, clubs, 
local governments and schools 
feel the program is valuable 
to the children involved.

• Around 65% of clubs agree that 
KidSport helps them to reach children 
they would not normally engage with. 

• 74% of local governments feel that 
KidSport is a practical initiative 
that provides assistance at a 
grassroots community level.

Community Volunteer Project
• CVP reached 2,217 volunteers and 

1,690 sport and recreation clubs 
through training and funding.

• 24 State Sporting Associations 
were involved in the development 
of workforce development plans.

• 250 clubs received community 
volunteer grants to implement 
volunteer management plans.

28
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Nature Play WA 
Nature Play WA is the country’s leading 
advocate for unstructured outdoor 
play, working to elevate its value in the 
minds of families, decision-makers and 
organisations that impact on the lives of 
children. Key achievements include:

• 230,462 Nature Play Passports 
distributed to WA children.

• 44 Family Nature Clubs established 
across the state, some with as 
many as 38 families involved.

• 458 media hits, increasing awareness 
of the benefits of unstructured play. 

• 205 Friends of Nature Play 
WA family memberships taken 
out, with 48 corporate partners 
providing them with special offers, 
gifts and prizes year around.

In the 2016/17 financial year:

• 125,920 families received resources 
through the Nature Play WA 
website, newsletter, Facebook 
page and Instagram account.

•  More than 8,230 people participated 
in Nature Play WA events including 
Camp Nature Play, Cubby 
Town, Nature Play Out Days and 
Children’s Week Play event.

• 1,635 attendees at Nature Play 
WA advocacy events, including 
the inaugural Children and Nature 
Conference, Benefits of Risk in Outdoor 
Play Forum, Engaging Outdoor Learning 
professional development workshops, 
stakeholder presentations and events 
and industry event presentations.

ClubTalk
ClubTalk has helped sporting organisations 
stay relevant, business smart and 
connected by equipping them with 
the skills, tools and knowledge to help 
develop innovative and cost effective 
Information Communication Technology:

• 53 State Sport Associations 
received grants.

• 75% of all ClubTalk workshop 
attendees have implemented the 
skills they learnt at the training. 
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SilverSport 
The Department partnered with the 
Department of Local Government and 
Communities to trial a new program 
to encourage senior participation 
in sport and active recreation. 

The SilverSport pilot program allows 
low socioeconomic seniors aged 60 
years and over to access up to $200 for 
the cost of sporting club memberships 
or physical activity program fees. 

From 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017 the 
program was available in the City of 
Belmont, City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder (and 
Shire of Coolgardie), City of Kwinana and 
Shire of Northam. Due to initial success, an 
expansion commenced on 1 April 2017 in 
the City of Albany and City of Bunbury.

In the original pilot areas a total of 1231 
SilverSport applications were approved for 
1187 seniors. Of these, 42% had not been 
involved in any sport or active recreation in the 
12 months prior to the program. A total of 79 
sport and active recreation providers offered 
32 different sport and active recreation options 
for seniors with the most popular being 
swimming followed by gym memberships, 
bowls, golf and exercise rehabilitation. 

Community Participation Funding 
$150,000
Grants of up to $5,000 for initiatives which 
increase participation and target low 
participation groups, particularly Culturally 
and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD), Aboriginal 
groups and people with disability.

Disability Sport and Recreation Forums 
Quarterly forums build connections for 
people with disability to get involved in sport 
and recreation, by creating and developing 
relationships between sport and recreation 
bodies and disability organisations.

Advocacy events 
Each year, we host events to raise awareness 
and provide educational opportunities 
around topical inclusion themes. Relevant 
industry representatives are invited. 
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Youth Engagement Scheme (YES) 
$248,000
YES enables organisations to target 
disengaged youth by assisting them to 
connect with their communities through a 
range of sport and active recreation activities. 
These activities are required to be provided in 
safe environments with mentors and leaders 
experienced in engaging disconnected 
youth. Programs increase participation 
in physical activity and offer volunteer 
and leadership opportunities to increase 
capability, build resilience and sustainability.

Department of Prime 
Minister and Cabinet
$35,000 
(Australian Sports Commission 
under the auspices of DSR)

Netball WA Aboriginal Sport Programs 
These programs increase active participation, 
develop skills and improve access for 
Aboriginal people. The program includes:

• Facilitation of the Aboriginal Grassroots 
Netball Program at 10 sites.

• Delivery of the Youth Carnival, NAIDOC 
netball carnival and All-Stars team.

• Increasing capacity of Aboriginal people 
with relevant development opportunities 
so there are a greater number of Aboriginal 
volunteers, umpires and coaches.

• Supporting two netball associations to 
develop and implement inclusive strategies.

West Australian Football Commission 
Aboriginal Sport Programs  
This program targets disengaged youth 
and provides a talent pathway and people 
development opportunities. The program 
includes the Nicky Winmar and Kirby 
Bentley Cups, delivering coaching and 
umpiring accreditation courses and life skills 
workshops, working with clubs to develop 
and implement reconciliation action plans and 
deliver pathway programs and support for the 
AFL Indigenous Round annual curtain raiser.

Aboriginal sport and programs 
We recognise the value of sport and 
recreation to the Aboriginal community and 
are committed to increasing participation 
and building community capacity. The 
Department continues to build on existing 
sport and recreation initiatives to continue 
developing and supporting new, innovative 
strategies and partnerships to achieve 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes and 
increase the capacity of relevant agencies to 
deliver sustainable programs and services. 

We use sport and recreation as an effective 
community builder in responding to youth 
challenges whilst growing inclusive sport 
and recreation environments through strong 
partnerships with the Wirrpanda Foundation 
in the Great Southern, Garnduwa in the 
Kimberly and Newcrest Mining / Ngurra 
Kujungka in the Pilbara. With the support 
of the Department, these organisations 
run significant programs in their regions.

In November 2016, the Department 
established the Aboriginal Sport and 
Culture Strategic Focus Group, to oversee 
and advise on the development of a new 
sport and culture agenda for Aboriginal 
people in Western Australia. Recently, the 
group changed its name to the Western 
Australian Aboriginal Sports Council. 

In 2016/17, the council comprised Bruce 
Loo (Chair), Wayne Nannup, Mick Albert, 
Cheryl Kickett-Tucker, Rishelle Hume, Clive 
Walley, David Collard (resigned March 
2017), Ron Alexander and Antoni Grover.

The Council has identified education and 
employment pathways for Aboriginal people 
in sport as its highest strategic priority. In the 
coming year, strategic initiatives to improve 
these pathways will be implemented.



32Participation

Softball WA Aboriginal 
Female Softball Program
$14,000
The program aims to: 

• Engage and empower Aboriginal people 
of all ages to participate in softball.

• Provide development opportunities 
to Aboriginal people in softball 
coaching and officiating.

• Build capacity of Aboriginal communities 
to deliver and manage softball.

• Maintain existing and develop new 
partnerships with community organisations 
to support delivering softball participation 
opportunities to Aboriginal people.

Kaart Koort n Hoops 
$80,000
A comprehensive lifestyle program 
using basketball to build the capacity 
and skills of young people, in particular 
Aboriginal youth, in the City of Swan.

Newcrest Mining
$166,000
The Aboriginal sport program in the 
Western Desert region has been delivered 
in partnership with Newcrest Mining since 
2010. This has led to the establishment of 
Ngurra Kujungka which works closely with 
remote schools to facilitate sports carnivals 
and other activities throughout the Aboriginal 
communities in the region. Elders, parents, 
children and service providers are all involved.

Wirrpanda Foundation 
$100,000
The Great Southern Aboriginal Sport 
Development Program seeks to develop 
and maintain collaborative partnerships 
within the Great Southern region in order 
to address sport and culture (recreation) 
participation and capacity building 
within the Aboriginal community. 
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Edmund Rice Centre
North West Metro Inclusion Project
$115,000
The North West Metropolitan Sport and 
Active Recreation Project engages low 
socio-economic status groups in sport and 
active recreation, specifically Culturally 
and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) and 
Aboriginal children and adolescents 
aged 5 – 18 in the Cities of Stirling and 
Wanneroo. The project aims to increase 
participation, develop the capacity of 
youth and families and create inclusive 
sport and recreation club environments.

Common Goal
$40,000
The Common Goal Soccer Academy 
targets vulnerable, socially and financially 
disadvantaged young people from CaLD 
backgrounds in Mirrabooka. Young people 
and police play soccer together once a 
week. Participants have access to leadership 
training and education opportunities.

Communicare
Communicare Get Active Program
$100,000
The Communicare Get Active program works 
with cultural groups and families to promote 
the value and benefits of participation in sport 
and recreation. Communicare is funded to 
link CaLD, Aboriginal and low socioeconomic 
youth in the South East corridor to local sport 
and active recreation clubs and build the 
capacity of clubs through cultural awareness, 
education, resources and support.

Active Schools
$85,000
Active Schools uses sport to deliver a 
range of activities to develop personal 
wellbeing, healthy living, social skills and 
a greater sense of social inclusion and 
community belonging for CaLD youth (in 
particular Muslim youth) and their families.

Geraldton Sporting Aboriginal 
Corporation – Indigenous 
Advancement Strategy 
$124,552 
(Prime Minister and Cabinet 
under the auspices of DSR)

The project seeks to increase levels of 
community safety and wellbeing and 
improved health in the greater Geraldton 
region through sport and recreation.

Ngurra Kujungka Pilbara 
Multi Sport Project 
$5,000
Engages State Sporting Associations 
to deliver training and development for 
local community recreation officers, 
community leaders and volunteers in 
nine Western Desert communities.

The Western Desert comprises the following 
communities: Warralong, Nullagine, 
Jigalong, Parnpajinya, Punmu, Kiwirrkurra, 
Kunawaritji, Parnngurr and Marble Bar.

Ngurra Kujungka Incorporated
$79,904 
(Prime Minister and Cabinet 
under the auspices of DSR)

As part of the Indigenous Advancement 
Strategy, this project seeks to achieve 
increased levels of community safety 
and wellbeing and improved health in 
the communities of Jigalong, Punmu, 
Parnngurr, Kiwirrkurra and Warralong 
in the Martu region of WA.
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Talent Development
Western Australia has a strong history of  
nurturing up-and-coming talent and producing  
sports stars. Our talent development agenda  
gives young athletes the opportunity to  
progress and follow their sporting aspirations  
on an elite pathway to Australian representation.  
We recognise it takes a whole community to 
enable and develop athletic excellence.
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Western Australian Institute 
of Sport (WAIS)
WA’s elite performers were supported by the 
Department through $7.99 million of funding 
to the WA Institute of Sport. More than 220 
athletes train across 12 core programs at 
WAIS, with over 50 more assisted through 
the Individual Athlete Support Program.

OSP – Talent Development
As part of the annual Organisational 
Sustainability Program we contribute to 
high performance pathways and support 
talented athletes and individual sports. 

Facilitated High Performance Reviews
$6,875
A formal method of assessing State 
Sporting Associations’ current high 
performance capacity and capability in 
conjunction with independently facilitated 
high performance review workshops.

High Performance Leaders Network
$4,724
A forum where SSA high performance 
leaders discuss trends and issues 
associated with improving WA’s high 
performance sport system.

Developing Champions
$125,938
A joint initiative between DSR and WAIS. 
Developing Champions is a life skills 
education program to equip aspiring 
athletes to engage in healthy behaviours 
and make positive decisions to enable 
them to successfully progress along their 
sport’s high performance pathway.

Athlete Travel Subsidy Scheme
$149,188 + $325,994 Royalties for Regions

Athletes received subsidies to travel to 
regional, state and national events. This 
supports athletes across the State who 
have progressed onto the high performance 
pathway and are pursuing higher competition. 

Coach Leadership Series
$30,000
In a partnership with The University of Western 
Australia, a pilot series of four 2-day modules 
were designed to assist in the development 
of effective leadership capability (skills) and 
capacity (energy) among individuals working 
in high performance sport with a priority 
target audience of SSA high performance 
coaches and secondary target audience 
of SSA high performance coordinators.

Regional Talent Development Network
$566,426 (Royalties for Regions)

The network supports athletes, coaches and 
officials in regional areas to provide a high 
quality daily training environment for athletes 
who are on the athlete development pathway. 
Athletes have access to quality coaching and 
sports specialist services as well as taking 
part in life skills and leadership opportunities. 
The following networks operate in the regions: 

• South West Academy of Sport
• Mid West Academy of Sport
• Peel Regional Academy of Sports
• Pilbara Sports Academy
• Great Southern Sports Talent Association
• Kimberley Regional Talent 

Development Program
• Esperance Regional Talent 

Development Program
• Goldfields Regional Talent 

Development Program
• Wheatbelt Athlete Support Program.

The following are how we invest in talent development:
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The Department’s regional services team has 
continued to deliver exceptional support, advice 
and expertise to our regional stakeholders. 
Across our 10 regional offices (covering nine 
regions) the Department’s 28 staff work closely 
with the extensive sport and recreation network, 
which is made up of 2500 community sport and 
recreation clubs, more than 20,000 volunteers 
and more than 100 local governments.

36



37

Annual Report 2016/2017

Regions

Argyle Swim), country championships 
(swimming) and key sporting events such 
as the Australian Standup Paddleboard 
Titles, darts championships, Goldfields 
PGA, Wildcats tours and squash opens. 

The Regional Grants Scheme supports sport 
and active recreation activities in regional 
WA. We also supported and approved 
46 Active Regional Communities grants 
totalling $220,606. Both help meet the 
ever-changing demands and challenges 
of regional sport and active recreation 
groups within our diverse regions.

Regional Organisation Grants aim to 
improve the quality of sporting and active 
recreation opportunities for people in 
regional Western Australia whilst assisting 
the Department meet its regional strategic 
outcomes. In the last year $502,000 was 
invested into 55 sporting organisations.

The Regional Services team continues 
to be active in the recreation and trails 
area. Initiatives around the Western 
Australian Mountain Bike Strategy continue 
alongside key partnerships which provide 
support and advice to ensure outdoor 
recreation opportunities are available 
to the broader community as well as 
interstate and international visitors.

Aboriginal sport programs and support 
are high on the regional services agenda 
with strong strategic partnerships created 
with organisations like Wirrapanda 
Foundation, Garnduwa, Ngurra Kunjunka 
and the Geraldton Sporting and Aboriginal 
Corporation. Through these organisations 
programs and services are delivered 
to regional and remote communities 
enriching the lives of local communities. 

The Department offers a range of 
workshops, forums and professional 
development opportunities to the industry 
in our regions. These include workshops 
around how to run a club, working with 
the media, use of technology and fair 
safe sport. Over 100 workshops were 
delivered in 2016/17 utilising expertise 
from existing DSR programs, DSR staff and 
the Club Development Officer network. 

Regional staff contribute to a broad range 
of agendas in partnership with regional 
development commissions, other State 
Government agencies, local government 
and non-government organisations.

Engagement with regional stakeholders is a 
particular focus of the regional service. As 
each Regional Development Commission 
develops its Regional Investment Blueprint, 
the Department ensures sport and recreation 
is positioned so future investment decisions 
ensure liveable regional communities which 
support healthy and active lifestyles.

The Regional Services team develops 
and implements a yearly business plan in 
line with the Department’s strategic plan. 
Each region then develops their own plans 
through consultation with key stakeholders 
and taking into consideration community 
need and local regional planning. 

Each region has strong developed 
relationships with district leadership groups 
and local government zones which helps 
inform strategic policy being developed and 
ensures sport and recreation and its social 
and economic benefits are front and centre, 
informing the planning within communities.

Through funding the Department provides 
free office space to regional sport and 
recreation development personnel (paid and 
volunteer) in our offices. The Sportshouse 
model supports sport and recreation 
organisations in the delivery of their 
development services to regional WA.

The team has expanded and grown 
its social media reach and now boasts 
social media across all regions helping 
provide advocacy and support for clubs, 
events and volunteer recognition. 

The aim of the Country Sport Enrichment 
Scheme (126,000) is to help regional WA 
experience and conduct major sporting 
events and sport development initiatives. 
The regional teams support events on an 
annual basis, from international events 
(Hockeyroos test matches) through to 
advocacy tours (Champions to Country) 
along with community events (Lake 
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Wheatbelt

Wheatbelt Athlete Support 
Program (WASP)
WASP is funded by the Department and 
Royalties for Regions through the Regional 
Talent Development Program and supports 
the development of regionally-based talented 
athletes, coaches and officials. The aim of 
the program is to encourage the continued 
development and progression of talented 
individuals along their sporting pathway 
from the sub-elite to elite performance 
whilst living in regional Western Australia.

In 2016/17, nine athletes were supported to 
continue their talent development pathway 
through WASP and coach/officials support 
funding gave seven coaches and officials 
professional development to improve 
their knowledge and skills. Eight sports 
had opportunity to access additional 
sports specialist services that support the 
development of high performing athletes.

Narrogin Mentoring Program
A mentoring workshop was held in Narrogin 
with 11 participants from six organisations. 
In conjunction with the State Sporting 
Associations, the aim was to establish local 
mentoring programs for participating clubs 
and associations to assist in developing 
regionally-based coaches and officials and to 
provide local mentors with skills to effectively 
guide them through levels and accreditations.

A mentoring training booklet was developed 
and one-on-one support was offered 
to all mentoring workshop attendees in 
either establishing a mentoring program or 
mentors for a coach, official or committee 
member. Two associations are in the process 
of developing a mentoring program.

The long-term goal is a noticeable increase 
in the standard of coaching and officials’ 
accreditation and training in Narrogin 
and surrounding areas to support the 
development of local high-level athletes.

Peel / South West 
The Peel and South West regions continue to 
service a growing population which comes 
hand-in-hand with a growing demand. 
Key projects in 2016/17 included:

• 2017 Peel Sports Forum – more than 
180 attended the forum from local 
schools through to local clubs and 
associations, participating in workshops 
focusing on addressing adversity.

• The inaugural Peel and Districts Sport 
and Recreation Network welcomed 
representatives from the Peel, Kwinana 
and Rockingham local governments, with 
a focus on sport and recreation delivery.

• Peel Regional Academy of Sports 
continues to grow, with the introduction 
of a new tier structure that caters 
for specific levels of athletes. 

• Development of new and upgrading 
aged sporting infrastructure is paramount 
in the South West with 14 projects 
receiving more than $1 million being 
invested through the Community Sporting 
and Recreation Facilities Fund. 

• The trails boom continues and Peel and 
the South West are key priority areas 
for trails planning and construction. 
These trails will become massive 
attractions for locals and tourists. 
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Great Southern

Great Southern Centre of Outdoor 
Recreation Excellence (GS-CORE)
GS-CORE is a not-for-profit organisation 
promoting the growth and development of 
the outdoor recreation sector in the Great 
Southern region with the aim to position 
it as the adventure capital of Australia.

GS-CORE entered an exciting phase of its 
development within this reporting period with 
the beginning of a three-year implementation 
program. Over the last five years, the centre 
has moved from an idea to a reality. An 
executive director has been appointed and a 
2017 – 2020 Strategic Plan has been drafted 
to assist the GS-CORE’s board to achieve 
its goals. Informed by research across a 
range of stakeholder groups, the strategic 
plan articulates GS-CORE’s commitment to 
promote evidence-based best practice in 
the delivery of outdoor recreation products 
and services, setting a course that will see it 
deliver innovative services. The Department 
sits on the board and provides advice 
and guidance on GS-CORE’s direction.

Great Southern Recreation 
Advisory Group (GSRAG)
The GSRAG offers networking and 
professional development opportunities 
for local government, sport and recreation 
and community development staff and 
personnel. It also provides a space to 
discuss key issues, develop a support 
network across industry stakeholders 
and a forum to share best practice. The 
group ensures a collaborative approach to 
addressing sport and recreation issues. 

Pilbara

Pilbara Sports Academy
The Pilbara Sports Academy conducted 
its inaugural workshop with 27 talented 
athletes and 17 parents, representing seven 
sports. Eighteen athletes from six sports 
were selected to receive ongoing support 
for strength and conditioning programs. 

Basketballer Michele Timms 
inspires local community 
The Pilbara team hosted a community 
breakfast with Australian and international 
basketballer Michele Timms. Seventy 
students and community members were 
inspired by Michele’s life story from her 
early days playing basketball in Australia 
to competing at the Olympics and playing 
in the USA. Michele provided some great 
insights into the life of an elite athlete and 
the dedication and commitment required 
to go from grassroots to elite level. 
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RAC e-Bike trial
RAC partnered with the City of Albany 
and the Department to help increase 
awareness and usage of e-Bikes and 
boost cycling in regional cities.

Over 10 weeks from October to December 
employees of the partner organisations had 
the exclusive use of an e-Bike for their work 
commute and leisure trips. More than 1,160 
e-Bike trips were made by participants, 
clearly demonstrating the power of e-Bikes 
to overcome barriers to cycling. Participants 
significantly reduced their car usage, with 
commuting car trips dropping from 85% 
before the trial to 47% during the trial. 

The City of Albany and DSR have continued 
to actively promote cycling and have kept 
the momentum going by encouraging 
the uptake of e-Bikes by staff and locals. 
The trial has helped support the City’s 
drive to transform Albany into one of 
Australia’s best cycling destinations.

Mid West and Gascoyne

Murchison Active Communities 
Project (MACP)
A strategic partnership with the WA Centre 
for Rural Health (WACRH) and an operational 
partnership with Geraldton Sporting Aboriginal 
Corporation (GSAC) has been established for the 
next phase of MACP. A business case has been 
developed which proposes the employment 
by GSAC of a community and sporting 
development officer. This officer’s role is to seek 
out and provide tailored support for community 
leadership in a capacity building model for 
disadvantaged Murchison communities. A 
project steering group has been activated and 
comprises members from local government, 
community, Department of Community Services, 
WA Police, Department of Education, WA 
Country Health Services, WACRH and sport and 
recreation. The group is currently investigating 
opportunities for funding partnerships.

Mid West Recreation Strategy 
The Mid West Recreation Strategy will deliver a 
strategic plan to assess the current assets and 
needs of the region for targeted investment to 
stimulate recreation opportunities in the Mid 
West. A survey collected data on what assets 
and organisations are active in recreation. A 
workshop has delivered an understanding of the 
needs and possibilities of recreation in the region. 

The next step is to establish a working group to 
use the collected data to develop a Mid West 
Recreation Strategy. At the same time there 
have been some other major advancements 
in recreation in the Mid West and Gascoyne. 
Exmouth and Green Head have developed 
trails masterplans using Lotterywest funding 
and are now better positioned to enhance 
the recreation opportunities for community 
members and visitors. The City of Greater 
Geraldton has undergone a planning process 
and is about to engage in a project to develop 
the Chapman River reserve in Spalding for 
better planned and more sustainable trails.



The Work We Do

Annual Report 2016/2017

Kimberley

Kimberley Youth Engagement Program 
The Kimberley region has continued to 
play an active role in working closely with 
other government agencies to strengthen 
relationships for positive change and 
collaboration. The Department hosted 
representatives from the four Kimberley Shires 
and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands for a behind-
the-scenes tour of Perth Stadium in August 
2016. After the tour, the group convened to 
discuss the regional services reform roadmap 
and the collaboration between State and 
local governments. The collective impact 
approach has led to the development and 
implementation of the Kimberley Youth 
Engagement Program. The holiday program 
engages disengaged youth through sport 
and recreation and has proved successful 
in both reducing crime and the incidence of 
harm during the peak holiday times. DSR 
was proactively engaged in the design of the 
program as well as providing grant funding to 
a number of organisations for implementation.  

Mid West Sports Federation (MWSF)
In partnership with Mid West 
Sports Federation the following 
projects are underway:

• Sports Governance Project: Regional 
Sporting Associations were involved in 
board training with the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors. Follow-up initiatives 
such as board evaluation, meeting 
management and personality differences 
have been included to boost the capacity 
of regional sporting organisations. This 
project will continue into 2017/18.

• Sports Tourism Project: To better 
understand the economic impact on 
sport to the local economy, MWSF has 
engaged a consultant to develop a tool 
that will enable sporting organisations 
to collect data to help quantify this. This 
has successfully thrust the topic into 
the spotlight and become a discussion 
point. The economic importance of 
sport has been vastly under-valued in 
the region and this project is crucial to 
place sport and recreation in a stronger 
position to attract investment.
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Kimberley sport
• Footy finals were played in the three 

leagues across the Kimberley in September 
and Looma lined up against Bidyadanga 
in the first all-community final in the 
West Kimberley League since 1992.  

• Sports Awards in both Kununurra and 
Broome at the start of the wet season 
wrapped up another successful sporting 
season with the recognition of the many 
talented athletes, coaches, officials 
and club volunteers. Athletes from the 
Regional Talent Development Program 
featured in many of these awards.  

• The Broome Recreation and Aquatic 
Centre closed for six months for major 
renovations, partially funded through DSR. 
The Kimberley had its most significant 
wet season on record, so everyone 
was keen to get back into the water 
when the pool re-opened in February. 

• After the long wet everyone was very 
enthusiastic for a change in the weather 
and celebrated the season opener with 
another bumper sport season in March. 
Those adventurous enough were also out 
training for the Gibb River Challenge and 
were treated to many creek crossings 
and a wonderful adventure in May.

• The Lake Argyle Swim was won by 
New Zealand Olympian, Kane Radford 
in what was a magnificent showcase 
of sport in the great outdoors.

Goldfields
The Regional Talent Development programs 
in Kalgoorlie-Boulder and Esperance 
continued to provide opportunities for 
coaches and athletes. The strength and 
conditioning coaching provided to athletes 
in Kalgoorlie-Boulder included group 
and one-on-one sessions and access to 
sessional sports psychology sessions.  

The KortSportz program, featuring NightFields 
AFL program and a basketball program, 
had increased numbers of disengaged 
youth attending with average participation 
of 60 for NightFields and 80 for basketball. 
The programs were well supported by 
not-for-profit sector partners and work 
continues to decrease the antisocial 
behaviour of young people in Kalgoorlie-
Boulder and the Northern Goldfields.

The City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder and Shire 
of Coolgardie were pilot locations for 
the SilverSport program. The program 
enabled participants to join local recreation 
centres and take part in activities or join 
their local club like bowls and golf.
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Recreation Camps 
For more than 70 years, government has operated 
camps to promote the benefits of health and 
wellbeing and promote physical activity through 
participation in the outdoors. DSR operates 
five recreation camps, four located in the Perth 
metropolitan area at Bickley (Orange Grove), 
Ern Halliday (Hillarys), Point Walter (Bicton), 
Woodman Point (Coogee) and one regional 
location at Albany’s Camp Quaranup. 
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Camps provide affordable adventure 
recreation experiences, building upon 
our mission to increase participation in 
physical activity and enhance the quality 
of life of Western Australians. The camps 
network has increasingly focussed on its 
engagement with local community and its 
role as custodian of those environments.

The camp experience represents 
the combination of overnight stays 
(bednights) and instructor-led programs 
(participations) undertaken whilst away 
on camp, primarily in the outdoors. 

The camps chain targeted 246,250 
camp experiences in 2016/17 and 
achieved 242,985 in total:

93,659 bednights
(up 5.4% on 88,504 bed nights in 2015/16). 

149,326 participations
(up 4.2% on 139,569 
participations in 2015/16).

The recreation camps delivered 228,088 
physical activity hours for the community 
in 2016/17. Our programs are primarily 
adventure-based entry level activities 
that support the development of self-
confidence, promote teamwork and 
activate participation in the outdoors.

DSR’s outdoor leaders are critical to 
fulfilling the ongoing demand for adventure 
programs while ensuring the mandate of 
affordable, safe and enjoyable entry level 
participation experiences is being achieved. 

Outdoor programs have provided 87,500 
hours of instructor employment in the last 
10 years generating innumerable memorable 
client experiences as well as capacity building.

Recreation camps recognise that the 
attributes of a successful outdoor leader 
are honed through experience and gained 
technical expertise. Ongoing development 
opportunities for existing personnel, 
trainees and new employees are critical 
to the success of that model. In all, some 
3400 training hours were supported over 
48 separate training events in 2016/17.

Our quality service delivery is recognised 
with a continued strong performance in 
the Customer Perception Survey result 
with camp services achieving a 98% 
customer satisfaction rating in 2017. Our 
frontline teams are delivering high quality 
experiences, are valued by our clients 
and demonstrate the knowledge and 
ability to confirm customer confidence.
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in program revenue as return bookings 
seek out the activities on offer. Moreover, 
the increased demand in accommodation 
and programs at Quaranup has resulted 
in 21% revenue growth on 2015/16.

Groups from regional Western 
Australia accounted for 268 bookings 
(22.7%) within the camps network. 
There were also eight bookings from 
international or interstate groups.

It’s noted that future outdoor service delivery 
will be informed by the new Australian 
Adventure Activity Standard (AAAS) and 
the anticipated changes to the Western 
Australian Department of Education Outdoor 
Education and Recreation Activity Policy 
and Guidelines. Whilst these may impact the 
future benchmarks for engagement in outdoor 
activities, DSR will be working closely with 
those bodies and the broader outdoor sector 
to facilitate outdoor opportunities for schools.

Market trends

Group type 2016/17 
# Booking events % 2015/16 

# Booking events %

Schools and education 744 63% 696 59%

Community 411 35% 449 38%

Corporate 24 2% 38 3%

Total external booking events 1179 1183

Following a slight tapering in 2015/16 
group sizes, the 2016/17 results 
restore the accommodation service 
delivery output closer to the level of 
the 2014/15 double cohort period.

The school sector brings the largest 
proportion of bookings, with 744 
bookings serviced in 2016/17 followed 
by the sporting and community sector 
with 411 bookings. Corporate bookings 
decreased as availability is prioritised 
for schools throughout peak periods.

Additional bed nights across the camps 
chain in 2016/17 drove an increased 
take-up in program participations with 
noticeable growth at both Quaranup 
(up 2,308) and Bickley (up 3,590).

Quaranup in particular has continued 
to build its program delivery base with 
participations realising a 30% increase 

45



The Work We Do 46

Asset management 
Ern Halliday, Woodman Point and Point 
Walter continue to deliver services equal to 
or better than in 2015/16. These three sites 
were the primary beneficiaries of the 2007 
capital improvement program and as such 
the maintenance focus at these locations 
is to ensure facilities remain operational 
throughout the year and fit for purpose.

Bickley and Quaranup have a greater 
proportion of aged infrastructure requiring the 
directing of maintenance towards servicing 
and restoration of utilities. Key outcomes for 
2017 were the restoration of the Billabong 
tent area at Bickley and the addition of a 
110kL dedicated fire water tank at Quaranup.

The camps maintenance fund completed 130 
projects in 2016/17 with over half of those 
projects derived from the two heritage sites at 
Quaranup and Woodman Point with painting, 
hydraulics and grounds access ways a priority.

A new bore has been installed at Ern Halliday 
coupled with cleaning of the irrigation supply 
networks to improve grounds maintenance. 
This project was previously identified in the 
Ern Halliday masterplan. All metropolitan 
camps participated in LED lighting upgrades 
within the facilities to reduce utility costs.

Bushfire Management Plans (BMP) were 
upgraded and completed for priority 
locations Quaranup and Bickley with 
treatment plans prepared. These plans have 
been distributed for local consultations 
and will influence grounds maintenance 
planning and emergency response plans.

Third party roping facility inspections 
and maintenance were carried out at 
six monthly intervals at all camps with 
roping infrastructure. The climbing wall 
facility at Bickley was deemed to be 
unserviceable and given there were 
suitable alternative roping elements it 
was decommissioned in June 2017.
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Capacity building 
Camps core outputs are linked directly 
to accommodation and physical activity 
objectives. However, it continues to support 
future growth through the employment and 
training of its 90 outdoor leaders, hosting an 
outdoor recreation trainee, structured work 
placements and participation in outdoor sector 
policy and service delivery mechanisms.

DSR completed a needs analysis review 
on holiday camps to examine models 
that most appropriately address future 
community demand. This will inform the 
direction of the new business plan.

Holiday programs were provided for 
local children, including participants from 
organisations such as Therapy Focus, 
Helping Minds and the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support. 

Partnerships 
• Camp Quaranup and Nature Play WA 

hosted visiting presenters from IslandWood, 
Seattle who were touring the Great 
Southern in August 2016. These visitors 
were invited to participate in the GS-
CORE stakeholder reference meeting. 

• South Coast Natural Resource 
Management delivered cultural and 
environmental education tours for 
family camps at Quaranup.

• Nature Play WA designed a free app 
that supports Quaranup visitors to 
interpret the cultural and environmental 
significance of the site whilst incorporating 
physical activity. This was released 
for Outdoors October 2016.

• Renewed partnership and licensee 
agreement with Royal Life Saving 
Society of WA to conduct in-house 
competency training courses. 

• Relationships across key universities 
featuring guest lectures at Notre Dame 
Outdoor Education Unit and the Adventure 
Recreation Unit and incorporating 
student placements and pathways to 
employment for outdoor leaders.

Around the camps
Bickley camp hosted its first Community Open 
Day with more than 1000 visitors. The success 
of the event was driven primarily through 
a cost-effective social media campaign. 
The camp enjoyed a strong performing 
year in all aspects of its service delivery.

Quaranup hosted an open day to 
support Outdoors October 2016 with 
450 visitors attending. It was the camp’s 
best year since it became part of DSR. 

Ern Halliday launched its pump track in March 
2017. The 200 lineal metres of riding track has 
extended the land-based program options 
and provides entry level opportunities for 
participants looking to develop an off road 
bike skill set. Program innovation inspires 
return clientele and affirms its leading role 
as an entry level activity provider. The 
masterplan focus will shift to the Spinnaker 
precinct in 2017/18 in order to realise a 
rejuvenation of the camp’s oldest amenity.

Woodman Point Recreation Camp enjoyed 
its seventh consecutive year of bednights 
in excess of 25,000 and recreation 
participations in excess of 40,000. The 
camp has continued to be a highly sought 
after location for large school bookings 
and a hub for industry training through 
the CUBE facility and its close working 
partnerships with Notre Dame University.

Point Walter hosted a great diversity of 
bookings with its amenities suitable to service 
schools, universities, sporting associations, 
family events and special needs groups. 
Therapy Focus hosted a public open day 
event in April 2017 with over 2000 camp 
visitors. The increased take-up from other 
market areas reduced availability for weddings 
which were restricted to five over the year. 
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• DSR continued to work closely with the 
Department of Education to provide 
industry insight to Outdoor Education and 
Recreation Activities Policy and Guidelines. 
The camps network also supports 
student work experience placements.

Camps acknowledge the passing of 
Earle Seubert, President of the Friends 
of Woodman Point Recreation Camp in 
November 2016. He was a passionate 
advocate of the site’s historical role as a 
Quarantine Station. The Friends legacy will 
continue to be considered within camps 
management planning opportunities.

Business 
• In accordance with Treasury policy, DSR 

submitted an annual fee review structure 
which becomes effective 1 January 2018.

• The Roping Verification of 
Competency Program (R-VoC) was 
migrated and successfully audited in 
accordance with ISO 9001:2015.

• In December 2016, the Department 
completed the transfer of the three 
land parcels it retained within its 
management portfolio at Point Peron 
to the Department of Lands for the 
proposed Mangles Bay Marina.

Summary
Ten years on from the capital improvements 
completed in 2007, the recreation camps 
have generated $37.5 million in revenue, 
nearly doubling the capital investment at that 
time. This has provided a social dividend 
of 2 million physical activity hours for the 
Western Australian community whilst also 
providing instructors with 87,500 hours of 
employment in the outdoor recreation sector.

Recreation Camps
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Over the past decade enormous investment has been made in sport and recreation 
facilities and infrastructure all over the State, from Perth Stadium to local community 
facilities to world-class walking and cycling trails. The State now needs to capitalise on 
the new and improved facilities to ensure the viability and sustainability of this investment. 

Beyond making our suburbs more attractive and providing venues for sport and 
recreation, well-designed and planned public open space plays a vital role in building 
healthier, more vibrant communities. Recent rapid population growth and forecasted 
growth is increasing the pressures on public open space and sport and recreation 
facilities, both in outer corridor greenfield development and through urban densification. 
The Department is working collaboratively with other State Government agencies 
and local government to ensure public open space is identified early to facilitate 
planning and access to sport and recreation facilities across the State. Through the 
Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund, the Department also encourages 
the projects that lead to facility sharing and rationalisation, as multi-purpose facilities 
reduce the infrastructure required to meet similar needs and increase sustainability.

The following are issues and trends affecting 
the sport and recreation industry:
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There has been a national push for centralised control models of governance 
in sporting organisations. There is, however, an inherent inefficiency in centralised 
design and delivery of community sport and participation programs. Moreover, the 
volunteer-based sport and recreation delivery system was built from the ground up, 
not the top down. It provides the most cost-efficient model on offer and one envied 
internationally, delivering superior community development and social capital value-add. 
Communities don’t develop from the top-down, they build from the inside out and our 
current community system feeds off and develops our community at the same time.

The best strategic approach going forward is to invest in backing the existing 
community-based sport and recreation system. The current business 
improvement agenda by the Australian Sports Commission needs to be inclusive 
in its implementation to lift the capability of sport at all levels, not just about 
reinforcing central controls and revenue for National Sporting Organisations.

Western Australians of all ages are leading increasingly sedentary lives and being 
deprived of the many physical, social and community benefits of participating in sport 
and recreation. While some are time-poor and are choosing alternative avenues for 
entertainment, others are reluctant or unable to participate due to social or economic 
circumstances. The Department promotes and supports inclusive environments for 
sport and recreation activities through its inclusive sport funding, providing sports 
with the capacity to implement programs which encourage wider participation and 
also funds many programs which directly target low participation groups. Behaviour 
change initiatives such as ActiveSmart help people live more active lifestyles and the 
highly successful KidSport initiative provides children with the opportunity to access 
sport and recreation options which would otherwise be financially out of reach.

There is a growing recognition of the need to better harness the diversity of 
contributions that can be made in decision-making and leadership roles in the sport and 
recreation industry. The governance of sport and recreation organisations is becoming 
increasingly sophisticated and organisations are required to position themselves and 
respond on a range of social and ethical matters. Different backgrounds, skills, experience 
and ideas are widely accepted to promote better governance, leadership and decision-
making outcomes. The Department supports sport and recreation organisations in their 
governance and management through the Organisational Sustainability Program funding, 
the Club Development Officer Scheme and the Department’s sports consultants, as well 
as promoting and facilitating women in leadership positions in sport and recreation.

Sport and recreation has always been a popular pastime for Western Australians, 
with weekends filled with activities and childhood dreams of achieving 
success in local or international competitions. Participants, partners, volunteers, 
sponsors and government invest incredible amounts of time, effort and resources 
into sport and recreation at all levels. However, this traditionally positive image 
and reputation of sport and recreation is under threat from a variety of negative 
influences and incidents, including performance enhancing and illicit drugs, risks 
to child safety, violence and inappropriate behaviour including match-fixing. The 
Department holds strong positions on integrity and value-based issues, employs 
a Sport Integrity Officer and is closely involved with the Fair Safe Sport Strategy. 
We’re also committed to promoting a positive sport and recreation culture.

Issues and Trends
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The Department has a small communications team 
that promotes and supports the agency’s programs 
and services to stakeholders, industry, across 
government and the public. Broadly separated 
into media, advocacy, design, website and social 
media, Communications has produced and 
managed a range of initiatives across the year.
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Advocacy
We advocate for sport and recreation as a 
major part of building successful and healthy 
Western Australian communities through 
commissioning research to identify how they 
support the community, creating resources 
to promote these findings and facilitating 
pilot programs to engage a wide range of 
stakeholders. Advocacy messaging is inserted 
into all communications and programs.

Publications
During the year we delivered three 
publications designed to highlight the 
positive benefits of physical activity in our 
wider community. Safer Streets, Community 
Connect and Mind Matters advocate 
for how sport and recreation can help 
reduce anti-social behaviour and prevent 
crime, build social capital and strengthen 
communities and improve mental health. 
These documents follow on from Brain 
Boost which promotes the benefits of 
physical activity on children’s learning.

Events
More than 270 people attended the bi-annual  
Sport and Recreation Industry Awards breakfast.  
These awards recognise innovation and 
exceptional achievement across all areas 
of sport and recreation in Western Australia 
and are considered the premiere accolade 
for any organisation in the industry. Winners 
can be found on the Department’s website.

Media
We work with local media answering media 
enquiries, organising media events and 
opportunities and making announcements 
about funding and initiatives. In 2016/17 
we wrote 68 speeches, more than 80 
media releases and compiled this annual 
report. Where possible the Department 
also supports our industry partners by 
providing media advice and training.

The Department produces The Chronicle, 
a magazine showcasing Aboriginal sport 
and recreation activities. The magazine 
is published three times a year and 
delivered State-wide to stakeholders.

Grassroots: The Secret Life 
of Sport and Recreation
In the book Grassroots: The Secret 
Life of Sport and Recreation, you’ll 
meet more than 40 Western Australians 
who reveal why they continue to be 
involved in sport and recreation and 
what keeps them coming back every 
game, every week and every season. 

Conceived, created, written and 
photographed by the Department, the book 
advocates for the power of sport to enrich 
and change lives. It shows no matter your 
age, ability or background, everyone can 
contribute to our sporting system. Through 
inspiring stories and photos it invites you 
to become part of the sport and recreation 
family – and be active while doing it.
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Social media and website
Our website and social media channels play a large role in how we 
communicate. Using tailored messaging, the Department can reach 
a large number of Western Australians providing relevant, timely and 
interesting information. The industry recognises our use of these 
channels, with regular requests to run social media training sessions 
with sports, local government and other community groups.

Twitter @dsrwa

Facebook

Instagram

Perth Stadium

LinkedIn

675,579
Impressions
(number of times 

users saw a tweet)

1,488
Retweets

(number of times users have 
interacted with a tweet e.g. 
links, retweets, replies etc.)

13,986
Engagements

40
Top government 

tweets

196 2,592144 264
Followers

5,731
Twitter followers
2,614 New followers

4,979
Instagram followers
2,979 New followers

FollowersPosts New followers

931
New followers

Social media in 2016/17

887
Followers

5,680
Followers

(main account 
only)

2,196
Followers

(all accounts – main, 
regional and camps)

Website performance 
2016/17

+12.13%
Sessions

to 797,097

+51.33%
Page views

+5.72%
Users

to 549,253

2,5452,573
Page views

+50.06%
Avg session time

to 3:13

www.dsr.wa.gov.au



54Communications and Advocacy

Design and photography
Our in-house designer, photographer and videographer ensure 
that the quality of work produced by our team continues to be 
of a high standard, whilst keeping costs low. During 2016/17 
numerous publications, posters, flyers, videos, digital signage and 
other resources were produced by the team. These publications 
were created for all areas of the Department including policy, 
recreation, community inclusion and industry development.

We distributed 24 editions of the Sport and Recreation Update:

Digital design

Newsletters

Video and photography

47,016
Deliveries

14,721
Unique opens

47,063
Total opens

31.5%
Open rate

2,032
Subscribers

90
Videos

15
Events 

photographed

105
Enewsletters

172
Digital signs

213
New subscribers

Sneakerheads
In collaboration with the Art Gallery of WA 
(AGWA), the Department promoted and was 
involved in the Sneakerheads exhibition. 
From staging wheelchair basketball games in 
the Perth Cultural Centre (during one of the 
gallery’s highest attendance days in years), to 
running a kids’ sneaker drawing competition 
and promoting the exhibition across all our 
social media channels, the Department 
helped Sneakerheads become one of 
AGWA’s most successful shows to date.

Sneaker by Miller E.
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Our team’s core business is to support the 
development of a sustainable and diverse sport and 
recreation system that encourages participation, 
develops talent and contributes to the health and 
wellbeing of individuals and groups in WA.

Significant funds provided by Lotterywest through the Sports 
Lotteries Account (SLA) and Sports Wagering Account (SWA) are 
administered by our Department and help us to achieve this goal.

SLA funds provide sporting organisations with financial 
support for the development of sport and recreation 
in WA. Section 22 of the Lotteries Commission Act 
1990, provides for 5% of net subscriptions to be made 
available to the Minister for Sport and Recreation from 
this account. In 2016/17 we received $15 million.

SWA funds are directed to us through the Gaming 
and Wagering Commission Act 1987, which allows for 
the disbursement of funds to our Department, which 
in this financial year was around $2.84 million.

These monies are used to fund physical activity programs, 
research and initiatives to increase participation.
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A summary of Sports Lotteries Account (SLA) funding for 2016/17

State Sporting Associations Support
Organisational Sustainablity Program (OSP) 7,725,000
State Sporting Associations Annual Programs 400,000
Financial Management Support 170,000

8,295,000 

Peak Agencies Support
WA Disabled Sports 200,000
Confederation of Australian Motor Sport Ltd 74,000
WA Sports Federation 420,000
Inclusion WA Inc 40,000
Rebound WA 75,000
Recfishwest 65,000
Royal Life Saving Society of Western Australia Inc 60,000
Westcycle Incorporated 530,000
Westen Australian Shooting Association 60,000
Australian Sports Medicine (WA Branch)sport 
industry support and Concussion Project

95,000

Australian Sports Anti-Doping Authority – Sport Testing Program 25,505
WA Institute of Sport 5,089,500
Australian Commonwealth Games 30,000

6,764,005

Regional Sport
Regional OSP and Active Regional Communities Initiatives 791,686
Country Sport Enrichment Scheme 126,000

917,686

Community Sport Initiatives
Club Development Officer Scheme 1,475,500
Sport International Grants 30,000
AIS Hockey commitments 200,000

1,705,500

Grand total (SLA approvals) 17,682,191 



57

Annual Report 2016/2017

Thank You

Behind every team is its supporters!

We work with a large group of stakeholders and supporters 
both in and out of the sport and recreation industry. Without 
these enthusiastic individuals and groups a great deal 
of the Department’s work wouldn’t be possible.

Thanks for supporting our team to build stronger, healthier, 
happier, safer and better connected Western Australian 
communities through sport and recreation.

We also gratefully acknowledge the following 
major partners and sponsors:

• Lotterywest
• Local governments across 

Western Australia
• Australian Sports Commission
• Newcrest Mining
• HBF
• Federal Department of Infrastructure 

and Regional Development

• Royalties for Regions
• RAC
• Diabetes WA
• Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
• Curtin University
• Department of Local Government 

and Communities

Thank You

Department of Local Government and Communities
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Business 
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Information Technology Services
The Department has continued its 
digital transformation over the last 12 
months. Moving further into the cloud 
has allowed us to consolidate, reduce 
our footprint and maximise investment. 

Our goal is to deliver technology simply. 
We’re doing this by building collaborative 
and engaging environments, through 
continual innovation and improvement. 
During the year Information Technology 
Services has undertaken further 
optimisation, improving availability and 
agility. Work carried out includes:

• Completion of desktop upgrades 
to Windows 10 and Office 365.

• Completion of moving email to the cloud.
• Optimising cloud services to increase 

performance and resilience.
• Implementation of multi-factor authentication. 
• Digital Rights Management enables us 

to control who uses a document, when 
they use it and what can be done with it. 

• Further rationalisation of legacy systems.

We’ve also increased the ability of our 
staff to work anywhere on a variety 
of devices which increases agility in 
providing stakeholder services. 

Record keeping plan
Record keeping is a key part of good 
governance and government. Our record 
keeping plan is current and up-to-date 
as per our commitments to section 
19 of the State Records Act 2000.

The following are highlights of activities under 
our record keeping plan in the last year:

• Records awareness is still a 
constant deliverable.

• Review and recommendations around 
our current records management system 
has been completed and work will 
commence in the next calendar year.

• The information management 
life cycle is a focus.

Freedom of Information Act 1992
Our Department provides Freedom 
of Information (FOI) services to all 
sectors of the community including 
the public and media. Our Freedom of 
Information Statement is available at: 

www.dsr.wa.gov.au/foi

Of the eight FOI applications 
received during 2016/17:

• All were responded to within 
the agreed deadline.

• Two were referred to the Office 
of the Information Commissioner 
for external review.

• All had some information that was 
exempt under the Act or were 
edited to protect exempt matter.

• No applications were transferred 
to another agency.

Administrative Services
Our Administrative Services branch 
provided the following services this year:

• Building management and maintaining 
a safe working environment.

• Coordinating emergency situations 
and arranging evacuation drills.

• Motor vehicle fleet management 
and the introduction of strategies 
to reduce fleet costs.

• Education and advice to staff to ensure 
compliance with government procurement, 
gifts and gratuities and hospitality policies.

• Insurance management.
• Advice and support to regional officers 

around lease and maintenance issues 
associated with office accommodation.

• Government procurement reporting.
• Coordination of the Department’s 

risk management process.
• Purchasing card management.
• Reception services.

Business Management
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Human Resources
Our Human Resources (HR) branch contributes to the business outcomes of our Department 
by addressing strategic, operational, people management and cultural issues.

In our Department’s Strategic Plan 2016 – 2018 (Goal 7.1) we aspire to support our Department 
to be a vibrant, responsive and progressive organisation that is accountable to government 
and the community. Our Department invests in and supports its people so they can actively 
contribute to an agenda of industry support and reform. 

Staff profile 
During the reporting year, our Department employed an average of 178.17 fulltime equivalents.  
A total of 49 employment contracts were issued, comprised of: 

• 6 permanent appointments 
• 9 fixed term contracts 
• 34 casual contracts 

Equal employment opportunity and diversity 
The Department acknowledges its responsibilities and obligations under the Equal Employment 
Opportunity legislation and State Government’s commitments under the State Equity and 
Diversity Management Plan. 

The equity and diversity data provided in the table below is derived from demographic 
information provided by employees on a voluntary basis: 

Demographic characteristics – participation by employment type 

Employment 
type

Male Female CaLD 
background

Aboriginal People with 
disability

Permanent FT 60 46 5 1 5
Permanent PT 3 24 1 1 1
Fixed term FT 15 8 0 0 0
Fixed term PT 0 7 0 0 0
Total 78 85 6 2 6
Casual 56 52 7 0 1
Grand total 134 137 13 2 7

Note 1: 6.25% non-return/no comment on EEO survey.

Note 2: DSR casual employee data is deliberately reported separately. DSR draws on a large pool of recreation program instructors 
to resource the various outdoor recreation programs offered throughout the DSR camps chain. The profile of this casual pool 
is slanted towards entry level and a generally younger demographic. Their inclusion would tend to skew DSR EEO data. 
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Our Department’s Equal Employment Opportunity Management 
Plan 2016 – 2017 details strategies to achieve key objectives 
and reach equity and diversity targets. These strategies were 
implemented throughout our Department in accordance with 
action plans which are reviewed on an on-going basis. 

Age profile of DSR staff as at 30 June 2017 (excluding casuals)

Workforce planning 
Workforce and Diversity planning for 2016/2017 and beyond has been 
significantly influenced by emerging government imperatives and 
changing DSR business priorities in response to the Government’s 
Workforce Renewal policy. DSR’s targeted salary budget target 
is $1,351,000 million over the forward years to 2018/2019.

On a cumulative basis the projected savings target 
is on track for DSR as per the table below:

Date  Salary savings Est. Full Time 
Employees 

(FTE) impact

1 July 2015 $323,000 3 FTE
1 July 2016 $657,000 7 FTE
1 July 2017 $998,000 10 FTE
1 July 2018 $1.351 million 13 FTE

25–29 30–34 35–39 40–44 45–49 50–54 55–5920–24
0

20

18

16
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8

6

4

2

60 and 
above

Female

Male



Business Management 62

The Department has made good progress 
to meet the required Workforce Renewal 
Policy targets, with a further three to four 
positions still to be identified by 1 July 
2018. The preferred method for achieving 
savings is natural attrition. Realistically in an 
economic environment that triggers lower 
staff turnover and with the announcement 
of government departments merging on 
1 July 2017, meeting the targets requires 
the application of workforce planning 
principles for the agency incorporating DSR 
to prioritise job roles to future needs. 

In the reporting year, the following key 
workforce planning strategies were continued: 

• Ongoing commitment to focusing on 
reduction by natural attrition, aimed at 
protecting people’s employment.

• Further workforce analysis to 
identify priority jobs, services 
and productivity measures.

• Ongoing exploration of productivity 
measures associated with technology 
and business processes.

• Encouraging DSR employees to be 
flexible and work with management 
on minimising job loss.

• Investigation of partnership options, 
collaborative opportunities and 
outsourcing measures to maintain 
community service delivery.

• Continued focus on mitigation strategies 
to address the impact on staff changes.

• Timely communication planning for the 
engagement of the DSR employees 
and key stakeholders impacted by the 
proposed organisational changes.

Learning and Development
During the reporting year, our Department 
continued the implementation of the DSR 
Staff Development Framework, a whole-of-
agency approach to training for targeted 
employee development based on agreed 
corporate learning and development 
priorities. Focus areas included:

• Targeted scholarships for supervisory and 
management development programs

• Women in leadership

• Leadership for regional managers
• Business intelligence
• Monitoring and evaluation of programs
• Career transition and job readiness 
• Project management
• Policy in practice and current 

strategic directions in government
• Meeting management
• Occupational safety and health, 

including OSH awareness, evacuation 
procedures and driver training

• Accountability and ethics awareness
• Cultural and diversity awareness
• Technology and system user skills
• Mental health and personal 

effectiveness at work. 

Corporate Health and 
Wellness Program (CHWP) 
The Department’s Strategic Plan 2016 – 2018 
(Key Area 6) promotes our Department as a 
vibrant, responsive, progressive organisation. 
DSR invests in its people and offers a 
comprehensive health and wellbeing program 
to all staff across 16 individual workplaces.

Our award-winning Corporate Health and 
Wellbeing Program (CHWP) promotes the 
benefits of improved health and fitness 
and encourages the voluntary involvement 
and participation of employees.

The CHWP offers a range of resources, 
subsidies and dedicated programs, 
activities and events to staff year-round. 
These include weekly lunchtime fitness 
classes, walking groups, team sports, 
yoga, massage and reflexology sessions 
and services including annual influenza 
vaccinations, healthy heart checks and 
ergonomic workstation assessments.

Our Regional Officers and camps staff have 
several CHWP visits per year and have access 
to health and lifestyle workshops, seminars 
and presentations through video-conferencing, 
webinars and online resources and by 
attending the DSR annual Staff Conference.



Business Management63

Annual Report 2016/2017

All employees have access to the 
CHWP wellness collection: a library of 
health and wellbeing books, DVDs, CDs 
and board games, sporting equipment 
and use of bicycles for sporting, 
recreational and business purposes. 

Staff are encouraged to participate in several 
annual corporate sporting and recreational 
events such as Run for a Reason, City to 
Surf, Triathlon Pink, National Ride to Work 
Day and DSR Dunkers (our basketball 
team) all of which help develop good 
social relationships outside the office.

The CHWP continues to lead the 
way in Wellness@Work programs, 
delivering outstanding physical and 
mental health programs in a safe, 
supportive and healthy environment. 

Occupational Safety and Health 
Our Department acknowledges its 
responsibilities under Occupational Safety 
and Health (OSH), Workers Compensation 
and Injury Management legislation. 

Our executive management team is committed 
to driving the establishment and maintenance 
of safe workplaces and systems of work 
within all departmental locations to ensure 
that workplaces are free of hazards and the 
health, safety and welfare of our employees 
and any other people who may be affected 
by our operations is safeguarded through:

• A top-down commitment to OSH 
principles and support for improvements 
to systems and processes.

• Working cooperatively with employees 
to ensure OSH requirements and 
obligations are clearly defined for all 
people who enter DSR workplaces.

• Maintaining the work environment to 
maximise employees’ safety and health.

• Prevention of accidents and ill-health 
caused by working conditions. 

• Protection of employees from any health 
hazard which may arise out of their work 
or the conditions in which it is carried out.

• Compliance with the provisions of  
OSH-related legislation.

Our Department’s Occupational Safety and 
Health Committee provides a cooperative 
and active forum between management and 
employees to promote and maintain health, 
safety and wellbeing in the workplace. With 
input from both management and staff, the 
OSH Committee, through regular meetings, 
forums and reporting to Corporate Executive, 
actively contributes to policy development, 
monitoring programs, emergency 
procedures, relevant training and trends in 
accident/incident and illness reporting.

In the event of injury or illness occurring 
to an employee whilst engaged in work-
related activities, our Department is 
committed to acting in accordance with 
the Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 with a focus on 
safe and early return to meaningful work.

Our Department has adopted an Injury 
Management System to support our injury 
management policy framework. The system 
is predicated on the development and 
adoption of individually tailored plans to 
ensure employees are assisted to return to 
work following a work-related injury or illness. 



Business Management 64

Planning and Management 
Our Department undertakes an external 
assessment of the OSH management 
systems operating within the agency every 
five years. Systems are audited against 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 4801:2001. 
In the intervening years, an internal self-
assessment is conducted using standards 
and indicators detailed in WorkSafe 
WA’s WorkSafe Plan as a guide.

The last external audit was carried out 
in the 2014/2015 reporting year.

The DSR OSH Management Plan 2016 – 
2019 incorporates any recommendations 
arising from internal and external audits 
as well as other improvement strategies 
identified by the OSH Committee or Executive 
Management team. Initiatives undertaken 
in the current reporting year included: 

• On-going review of the DSR suite of 
OSH-related policies. In the reporting 
year, workers compensation and injury 
management, driving and driver fatigue, 
eyesight testing, emergency procedures 
and influenza management within the 
workplace were specifically prioritised.

Agency Performance

Performance measure 2014/2015 
Actual

2015/2016 
Actual

2016/2017 
Target

2016/2017 
Actual

Total number of workers 
compensation claims

5 10 0 6

Total number of Lost 
Time Injury claims

1 3 0 3

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0
Lost Time Injury 
Diseases Incidence Rate

0.0000 0.5102 0.7653 1.1898

Lost Time Injury Severity Rate 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 33.3333
Percentage of existing workers 
returned to work within 26 weeks

100% 100% 100% 100%

Percentage of managers 
trained in OSH and injury 
management responsibilities

84% 81% 80% 83%

Number of rehabilitation cases 1 0 0 1
Rehabilitation success rate 100% 100% 100% 100%

• Updating of hazard registers for 
individual worksites and incorporation 
into induction/orientation processes.

• Review of existing hazard identification 
and hazard management systems together 
with associated reporting capabilities. 

Training 
OSH training during the reporting year 
was directed to the on-going priority areas 
identified by the OSH Committee following an 
evaluation of training needs and included: 

• General OSH training and awareness 
for managers and staff 

• First aid training 
• Fire, emergency and 

evacuation management 
• Defensive driver training.
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Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 
The Department recognises the importance 
of sport and recreation participation for 
all people and is committed to providing 
services to the diverse Western Australian 
community, including people with disability, 
their families, carers and organisations. Our 
commitment is demonstrated in our Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2013 – 2018 
which is formally provided to the Disability 
Services Commission and can be read at: 

www.dsr.wa.gov.au/disabilityaccess

The Department is committed to continually 
improving our digital communications 
and the website is constantly reviewed 
to ensure information is up-to-date. Our 
website content meets requirements to the 
WCAG 2.0AA standards and documents 
and information are provided in alternative 
formats. The Department promotes the 
DAIP to staff, especially through our 
induction program, to ensure quality 
service and inclusion in consultation. 

DSR has inclusive recruitment policies 
and procedures. Job seekers can provide 
applications in alternative formats. Interview 
formats are changed to suit applicants with 
particular needs. Any special requirements for 
employees with disability are accommodated 
when organising training courses. Training 
has been provided to team members working 
with employees with disability to ensure the 
appropriate level of awareness, understanding 
and support is provided. DSR works closely 
with external employment providers to ensure 
training, support and assistance is available 
provided to our employees with disability.

The Department provides Disability Awareness 
Training to metropolitan staff, regional staff 
and stakeholder groups including sporting 
clubs as well as providing consultancy support 
to ensure funded State Sport Associations 
have in place a range of policy frameworks 
supporting inclusive participation outcomes.

Public sector standards 
and ethical codes
Section 31(1) of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994 requires the 
Department of Sport and Recreation to report 
on the extent to which the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management, 
WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and the DSR 
Code of Conduct have been complied with.

Compliance issues
During the reporting year, our Department 
fielded no allegations relating to potential 
breaches of Public Sector Code of Ethics and 
Code of Conduct. Significant action taken to 
monitor and ensure compliance included:

• Information about standards and 
codes included on agency intranet 
reviewed and updated.

• The monthly DSR induction program 
includes sessions addressing Code of 
Conduct, Grievance Resolution Process 
and public sector compliance requirements.

• Information and promotional material 
posted on notice boards and 
distributed to DSR worksites.

• Compliance-related policies updated and 
Departmental policies and procedures 
subject to an on-going review with priority 
areas nominated on an annual basis.

• DSR’s Grievance Officers are supported 
by on-going refresher training.

• Feedback from the Public Sector Entity 
Survey administered by the Public 
Sector Commission used to formulate 
priorities and focus for initiatives 
undertaken during the reporting year.
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The Finance branch provides effective 
governance across the Department’s 
financial policies and processes. 
The branch continued to maintain its 
service delivery to the Department 
during 2016/17, ensuring financial 
reporting deadlines were met.

Review of operations
The Department has successfully managed 
its financial resources this year with 
effective budget management, responsible 
use of capital funds and solid financial 
management policy. Capital funds have 
been used in facility infrastructure, camps 
plant and equipment and information 
technology. The major infrastructure 
works in progress is Perth Stadium.

The Department recorded a surplus of 
$5.5 million for the 2016/17 year. This was 
mainly attributable to the timing of grant 
payments. Funds are appropriated to the 
Department each year, but finalisation of 
funded projects may be delayed. This results 
in revenue exceeding expenditure in some 
years leading to a surplus position, and in 
other years expenditure exceeding revenue.

Expenses
The Department expensed $91.2 million 
during the year, a decrease of 1.4% on the 
previous year. Of this amount, $62.3 million 
(68.3%) was paid in grants to the community 
for a range of activities to enhance the social 
capital of the state. A breakdown of the 
Department’s expenses is detailed in the 
following chart:

Financial Management

2016/17 Actual Expenditure

19% 
Employee 
benefits expense

68% 
Grants and 

subsidies

1% 
Other expenses

8% 
Supplies and 
services

2% 
Depreciation 
and amortisation 
expense

2% 
Accommodation 
expenses
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Revenue
The total revenue for the Department was 
$96.7 million, an increase of 2.9% on the 
previous year. The main source of funding 
was income from State Government 
(93.7%). This State Government funding was 
comprised mainly of Service Appropriation 
($85.4 million) and revenue from the 
Royalties for Regions fund ($4.3 million). 
The Department also receives fee revenue 
from the operation of the camps service 
during the year, reflecting the participation 
of groups accessing the programs offered. 
A breakdown of the Department’s revenue 
is detailed in the following chart:

Equity
The total equity at year end was $577 million, 
an increase of $205.9 million for the year. 
Most of the increase reflects Perth Stadium 
payments. In addition, the accumulated 
surplus increased due to the timing differences 
between the appropriation revenue and 
grant funding. In the Statement of Financial 
Position, cash on hand was $27.4 million, 
mainly reflecting unexpended funds received 
for Perth Stadium and grant commitments.

2016/17 Actual Revenue

94% 
Income 
from State 
Government

5% 
User charges 

and fees

0% 
Commonwealth 

grants and 
contributions

1% 
Other revenue
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Advertising and marketing expenditure 
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, our 
Department is required to report on expenditure incurred during the 
financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and 
media advertising organisations.

Expenditure with market research organisations –
Expenditure with advertising agencies: AdCorp $11,620.00
Expenditure with media advertising organisations –
Expenditure with polling organisations –
Expenditure with direct mail organisations –
Total expenditure $11,620.00
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on 
proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to 
assess the Department of Sport and Recreation’s performance, 
and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Sport 
and Recreation for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

Damian Rosielle 
Chief Financial Officer

Date: 24 August 2017

Certification of Key Performance Indicators
for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Reporting
A refinement of the Department of Sport 
and Recreation’s (DSR) OBM structure was 
approved by the Department of Treasury in 
March 2016 for implementation in the year 
2016/17 and beyond. Building upon the 
revised OBM (Outcome Based Management) 
structure introduced in the 2013/14 reporting 
year (initiated following the Office of Auditor 
General’s Performance Audit – Maturity of 
KPI and Performance Reporting 20121), 
the refinements focus on the increase from 
two to three service areas for reporting 
and an increased number of effectiveness 
and efficiency measures to better monitor 
Departmental performance in operational 
areas. The desired outcome statement 
focuses on the services, activities and 

responsibilities directly attributable to the 
Department which contribute to enabling 
WA’s participation and achievement in 
sport and recreation. The effectiveness and 
efficiency measures are aligned with the 
Department’s strategic plan priorities2.

DSR presents one outcome and three 
services for 2016/17. The key performance 
indicators consist of six effectiveness 
indicators and eight efficiency indicators 
to demonstrate performance in delivering 
the agency level service outcome. The 
following table illustrates the link between the 
Department’s desired outcome and service 
areas with the government’s goal of results-
based service delivery and corresponding 
effectiveness and efficiency measures. 

Government goal Results-based service delivery: Greater focus 
on achieving results in key service delivery areas 
for the benefit of all Western Australians.

DSR desired outcome Effectiveness measures

A strong and diverse sport 
and recreation system in 
Western Australia that is 
accessible, encourages 
maximum participation 
and develops talent.

1. Satisfaction rating of policy development and 
leadership provided by the Department.

2. Satisfaction rating of the Department’s consultation 
advice to clients. 

3. Satisfaction rating of the Department’s grant’s 
management.

4. Satisfaction rating of the Department’s programs, 
initiatives and resources. 

5. Western Australian participation in organised sport 
and active recreation.

6. Satisfaction rating of recreation camps management 
and service delivery.

Performance Indicators
Corporate Profile and Key Performance Indicators

1 Western Australian Auditor General’s Report. Beyond Compliance: reporting and managing KPIs in the public 
sector. Report 3, April 2012. http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/reports/pdfreports/report2012_03.pdf.

2 DSR Strategic Plan 2016 – 18. http://www.dsr.wa.gov.au/dsr-strategic-plan. 
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Service 1: Industry leadership and infrastructure development.

Description Provide strategic leadership for the sport and recreation industry 
and support for infrastructure development through funding and 
advice to sport and recreation groups State-wide, including State 
and local governments.

Explanation Strategic and operational policies are key contributors to the 
achievement of outcomes for the sport and active recreation sector. 
Development of policy is underpinned by a broad awareness 
of current and new issues which then inform the Department’s 
programs and services.

Built and natural spaces form the settings in which sport and active 
recreation occurs. Availability and accessibility of these settings 
contribute to participation and achievement.

DSR Strategic 
Plan goals

Industry leadership:

1.1 Influence policy settings to deliver effective outcomes for the 
sport and active recreation sector.

1.2 Facilitate opportunities for economic and tourism benefits 
through sport and active recreation.

Places and spaces:

2.1 Provide Western Australians with a variety of sport and active 
recreation settings.

2.2 Facilitate access of Western Australians to a variety of suitable 
sport and active recreation settings.

2.3 Enable Western Australia to have a variety of facilities capable of 
hosting state, national and international level competition.

Efficiency measures 1. Average cost of providing consultancy3 (policy, advocacy and 
infrastructure) to organisations4.

2. Average cost of providing contact services5 (policy, advocacy 
and infrastructure)6.

3. Average cost to manage7 infrastructure grants.

3 Consultation refers to a meeting/phone call with a group/individual at which a DSR staff person provides advice of a strategic nature.
4 The average cost of providing the consultancy is dependent upon the number of organisations provided consultancy (recorded as consultations 

through CRM and project databases) – and the overall cost of providing such services (inclusive of staffing, resources and program 
development, etc.). Note – CRM is a business management system used by the agency to record project and performance information.

5 Contact services refers to contact by DSR with an industry client through provision of a seminar, workshop or via the Information Centre where information/
resources, advice and education are provided to organisations, groups or individuals supporting the delivery of sport and recreation in the community.

6 The average cost of providing contact services is dependent upon the number of contacts made annually (as seminars through CRM, project 
databases, info@) and the overall cost of providing such services (including staffing, resources and program development, etc.).

7 Grants managed refers to the grants managed by the Department which have been either: approved, paid, recommended and 
not yet approved, not recommended and not finalised or finalised in the financial year. Average cost of grants managed is derived 
by dividing the total number of grants managed by the overall cost of providing such services (inclusive of staffing, resources and 
program development, review and refinement). Note – Grants managed does not include social concessions such as funding provided 
by the Department through schemes such as Athlete Travel Subsidy Scheme or Community Club Equipment Scheme.
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Service 2: Building capacity and participation.

Description Provide support for organisations and personnel delivering sport 
and recreation State-wide from participation to the elite level 
through advice and funding support.

Explanation Participation in sport and active recreation contributes to mental 
and physical wellbeing and the development of strong networks 
and support structures within the community. This in turn reduces 
pressure on the State’s investment in health care and justice.

The Department works together with the sporting sector to not only 
support talented athletes and teams to achieve in local, national 
and international level competitions, but support and recognise 
achievement at all levels.

Building on the existing capabilities of individuals and organisations 
to operate at their very best and in turn provide quality opportunities 
for all Western Australians to participate in sport and active 
recreation and achieve their goals.

DSR Strategic 
Plan goals

Participation:

3.1 Enable sport and active recreation to make a significant and 
enduring contribution to the lifestyles of Western Australians.

3.2 Facilitate access of Western Australians to a variety of suitable 
sport and active recreation settings.

Achievement:

4.1 Establish pathways to enable achievement at all levels  
of competition.

Capacity building:

5.1 Increase the capacity and capability of individuals and 
organisations to provide sport and active recreation opportunities to 
Western Australians.

5.2 Protect the integrity of the sport and active recreation industry.
Efficiency measures 1. Average cost of providing consultancy (organisational 

development and participation) to organisations8.

2. Average cost of providing contact services (organisational 
development and participation)9.

3. Average cost to manage sport and recreation development grants10.

8 Refer to footnote 4.
9 Refer to footnote 6.
10 Refer to footnote 7.
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Service 3: Recreation camps management.

Description Provide experiential outdoor activities to the community through the 
management of recreation camps.

Explanation Provide experiential opportunities to the community and increase 
participation in outdoor activities through management of recreation 
camps.

DSR Strategic 
Plan goals

Participation:

3.2 Facilitate access of Western Australians to a variety of suitable 
sport and active recreation settings.

Strategy 3.2.3 
Provide opportunities for Western Australians to engage in 
outdoor activities and recreation camp programs.

Efficiency measures 1. Average cost per bed night11.

2. Average cost per participation12.

11 Bed night – is a count of the number of beds occupied by clients on a single evening available in a trading period. It is derived by 
multiplying the number of persons staying in the camps by the number of nights stayed. The average cost per bed night is the 
total cost of running camps (management, staffing, maintenance, etc.) divided by the total number of bed nights (accommodation). 
This is a direct correlation between throughput volume and the cost to deliver accommodation services.

12  Participation – represents a camp participant’s engagement in a DSR organised physical activity program whilst attending the camp. 
Multiple engagements determine the participation ratio for the client, group type of trading period. This does not count for free play time or 
structured activities coordinated by the school, sporting association or community group. For DSR camps, participations typically represent 
an organised activity program of 1.5 hours. Participations refers to the number of program activities undertaken by a single participant – it 
does not refer to the number of persons who undertook the activity. The average cost per participation is the total cost of running programs/
participation experiences in a wide range of outdoor recreational activities (staffing, equipment/environment, program development, etc.) 
divided by the numbers of persons involved in the program activities. It is a measure of per unit involvement in each program delivered.
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Sampling
The independent survey of the Department’s 
key stakeholders was undertaken in 2016/17 
by Research Solutions Pty Ltd who contacted 
senior personnel from local government and 
sport and recreation groups responsible for 
managing sport and recreation in Western 
Australia and camps users who utilised the 
Department’s camps during 2016/1713.

A total of 131 telephone interviews were 
conducted with sport and recreation group 
representatives and 106 with local government 
representatives. A total of 331 online surveys 
were completed by camps users.  

Lists of contacts for these sample pools were 
provided by the Department14 and covered 
organisations across Western Australia.

For 2017, due to the size of the total client 
group, survey contact was an attempted 
census with sport and recreation and local 
government clients to meet the response 
rate (>50%) and sampling error margin (of 
+/- 5% at the 95% confidence interval).

The response rate was 76.3% for local 
government, 66.8% for sport and recreation 
groups and 50.2% for the camps users. 

Survey group Population 
size

Actual sample Forecasting 
accuracy (95% 

confidence 
interval)

Sport and recreation groups 196 131 ± 4.9%
Local government 139 106 ± 4.6%
TOTAL 335 237 ± 3.4%

Camps users 660 331 ± 3.8%

Source – Annual Client Survey 2017, Topline Findings (Research Solutions Pty Ltd), pg.2.

13 In 2017, contact was via telephone survey for the sport, recreation and local government groups and via an online survey for camps clients. 
14 Sources: The Department of Sport and Recreation’s Client Management System for sport and recreation groups and local 

governments (note – Shire of Cocos Keeling Islands was not included) and the Camp’s database for camps users.
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Effectiveness Indicator No. 1
Satisfaction rating of policy development 
and leadership provided by the Department.

The Department has a significant role to play 
to ensure the sport and recreation sector 
in WA remains responsive to community 
expectations. The Department provides 
leadership, advocacy and policy support 
to achieve a range of industry outcomes, 
including provision of quality participation 
environments, excellence in organisational 
governance and management and quality 

infrastructure provision. The Department 
promotes the understanding of Government 
policy priorities and their relation and impact 
to sport and recreation, whilst also ensuring 
there is ongoing sport and recreation 
contribution to wider public policy agendas.

Providing leadership to support the 
development and implementation of policy 
frameworks and the coordination of sport 
and recreation services and experiences 
Statewide are vital Department objectives. 

2008/09 
Actual

2009/10 
Actual

2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Satisfaction 
rating 
of policy 
development 
and 
leadership 
provided 
by the 
Department

89% 88% 87% 91% 91% 89% 93% 93% 85% 93%15 8%

Key Performance Indicators – Effectiveness

This effectiveness indicator is an average 
of the satisfaction ratings of clients of the 
Department’s leadership and the relevance of 
the policy development and implementation 
support provided by the Department. 

Client satisfaction rating of the Department’s 
policy development and leadership 
provided during 2016/17 was 93%16. 

The average over the past nine years of 
90% illustrates industry satisfaction that 
the policy development and leadership 
provided by the Department is continually 
meeting industry and community needs. 

15 Annual Client Survey 2017, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, June 2017.
16 Refer to footnote 15.
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Effectiveness Indicator No. 2
Satisfaction rating of the Department’s 
consultation advice to clients.

The Department provides consultation advisory services in a wide range 
of organisational, business, compliance and service delivery matters to 
help clients run efficient and effective organisations delivering relevant/
effective services within their operating resources and budgets.

2008/09 
Actual

2009/10 
Actual

2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Satisfaction 
rating of the 
Department’s 
consultation 
advice to 
clients.

90% 87% 90% 89% 90% 88% 86% 88% 90% 88%17 (2%)

This effectiveness indicator is an average of the satisfaction ratings of 
clients of the Department’s advisory services (strategic and operational) 
and the agency’s responsiveness in providing advisory services18.

17 Refer to footnote 15.
18 In 2010, there was a wording change to the advisory services questions to ensure consistency with current terminology 

utilised by the Department, i.e. to long term (strategic) planning and short term (operational) planning.
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2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Figure 1 illustrates the findings of the Department’s Annual Client Survey 
from 2008/09 to 2016/1719 with key clients, i.e. State Sporting Associations, 
local government and sport and recreation groups, regarding the 
Department’s advisory services at a strategic and operational level as well 
as the Department’s responsiveness in providing advisory services.

Figure 1: Satisfaction with consultation advisory services for 2008/09 to 2016/17

Strategic – refers to advice provided regarding strategic planning, policy development and decision-making  
(e.g. organisational governance and management, infrastructure planning and design).

Operational – refers to advice provided regarding operational development and delivery  
(e.g. volunteer management, club development, youth programs).

Responsive – refers to the clients’ perceptions of the way the Department responds to requests for advisory 
services (telephone, email, correspondence, follow-up from seminars and workshops) regarding both strategic  
and operational issues.

Client satisfaction with Department’s consultation and advisory services (strategic and 
operational) including responsiveness to requests for advice was 88%20 in 2016/17. 

Overall client satisfaction for the Department’s advisory services has 
remained high over the past nine years with an average of 88%.

Strategic Operational Responsive
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19 Annual Client Survey 2017, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, June 2017
 Annual Client Survey 2016, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, June 2016
 Annual Client Survey 2015, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, June 2015
 Annual Client Survey 2014, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, June 2014
 Annual Client Survey 2013, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, July 2013
 Annual Client Survey 2012, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, July 2012
 Annual Client Survey 2011, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, July 2011
 Annual Client Survey 2010, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, July 2010
 Annual Client Survey 2009, Research Solutions Pty Ltd, July 2009.
 20 Refer to footnote 15.
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21 SD6 refers to Strategic Directions for the Western Australian Sport and Recreation Industry 2016 – 
2020. http://www.dsr.wa.gov.au/about/plan-for-the-future/industry-strategic-plan 

22 Refer to footnote 15.

Effectiveness Indicator No. 3
Satisfaction rating of the Department’s 
grant’s management.

The Department’s funding programs – 
Community Sporting and Recreation 
Facilities Fund (CSRFF), Community Pools 
Revitalisation Program (CPRP), Organisational 
Sustainability Program (OSP), Regional Grants 
Scheme (RGS), Community Participation 
Funding (CPF) and SSA Annual Grants 
(SAG) – are developed in conjunction with 
key stakeholders (through SD621, relevant 
reference groups, committees, ongoing client 
discussions, etc.) responding to critical areas 
of need covering a wide range of infrastructure 
and organisational development and capacity 
building issues to ensure stakeholders are well 
resourced and supported. The Department’s 
funding programs are developed to support 
and enhance sport and recreation service 
delivery throughout Western Australia – based 
on a combination of identified industry need 
and current government policy priorities. 

The satisfaction rating of the Department’s 
management of grant funding programs 
takes into consideration client satisfaction 
with the following components of 
grants management including: 

a. relevance of the funding
b. process to apply for and acquit funding 
c. support provided by the Department 

during the funding process
d. follow-up advice following the 

outcome of the application
e. clarity of documentation
f. information provided on the website.

The client satisfaction rating of the above 
aspects is a direct measure of how well the 
Department is managing the administration of 
our grants programs and meeting sport and 
recreation industry stakeholder infrastructure 
provision and service delivery needs. 

2008/09 
Actual

2009/10 
Actual

2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Satisfaction 
rating of the 
Department’s 
grant’s 
management.

91% 91% 85% 87% 84% 89% 85% 88% 85% 89%22 4%
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2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Figure 2 illustrates a comparison of 2008/09 to 2016/17 Annual Client Survey23 
responses regarding client satisfaction with the Department’s grant’s management. 

Figure 2: A comparison of the responses from 2008/09 to 2016/1724 
on the clients’ rating of the Department’s grant’s management.

During 2016/17, client satisfaction with the Department’s management of grants 
programs was 89%25.

The satisfaction rating of clients with the Department’s management of grants 
programs has remained high over the past nine years with an average of 88%. 

Effectiveness Indicator No. 4
Satisfaction rating of the Department’s programs, initiatives and resources.

The Department’s program, initiatives and resources (online, written etc.) are 
developed in conjunction with key stakeholders (through SD626, relevant reference 
groups, committees, ongoing client discussions, etc.) responding to critical areas of 
need covering a wide range of infrastructure and organisational development and 
capacity building issues to ensure stakeholders are well-resourced and well-informed. 
The Department’s programs, initiatives and resources are developed to support and 
enhance sport and recreation service delivery throughout Western Australia – based 
on a combination of identified industry need and current government policy priorities. 

23 Refer to footnote 19.
24 Refer to footnote 19.
25 Refer to footnote 15.
26 SD6 refers to Strategic Directions for the Western Australian Sport and Recreation Industry 2016 – 2020.  

http://www.dsr.wa.gov.au/about/plan-for-the-future/industry-strategic-plan 
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The satisfaction rating of the relevance and management of Departmental 
programs, initiatives and resources is a direct measure of how well the Department 
is meeting sport and recreation industry stakeholder needs in supporting sport 
and recreation service delivery outcomes within their specific markets.

Figure 3 illustrates a comparison of 2008/09 to 2016/17 Annual Client 
Survey28 responses regarding client satisfaction with the relevance of 
the Department’s programs, initiatives and resources provided.

Figure 3: A comparison of the responses from 2008/09 to 2016/1729 on  
the clients’ rating of the relevance of the Department’s programs, initiatives  
and resources.

The satisfaction rating of clients with the relevancy of the Department’s 
programs, initiatives and resources provided in 2016/17 was 92%30, 
consistent with the high average achieved over the past nine years (92%). 

27 Refer to footnote 15.
28 Refer to footnote 19.
29 Refer to footnote 19.
30 Refer to footnote 15.
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2008/09 
Actual

2009/10 
Actual

2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Satisfaction 
rating of the 
Department’s 
programs, 
initiatives and 
resources.

90% 92% 90% 90% 92% 92% 94% 93% 90% 92%27 2%
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Effectiveness Indicator No. 5
Western Australian participation in 
organised sport and active recreation.

As the sole State Government agency 
with responsibility for specific sport and 
recreation outcomes31 in the WA community, 
the Department has a vital role to play with 
supporting the key community stakeholders 
(i.e. sport and recreation groups and local 
governments) throughout WA who are directly 
providing sport and recreation services to 
Western Australians. Targeted support to 
ensure quality service delivery, such as:

• sport and recreation 
infrastructure development

• organisational development 
and capacity building

• governance and management support
• planning and policy implementation
• information and resources.

This support ultimately impacts on the number 
of people participating in sport and active 
recreation. The measure of participation 
numbers within organised32 sport and active 
recreation participation reflects how well 
our service delivery system is working.

Whilst not directly responsible for organised 
sport and active recreation participation 
rates, the Department uses this measure 
as an indicator of how well the sport 
and recreation delivery system in WA is 
providing participation environments for 

members of our community. Analysis of any 
significant shifts in participation rates may 
highlight areas/issues within the delivery 
system that may impact Departmental 
policy, planning and service directions. 

The year 2015/16 represents the 
establishment of a new baseline for 
the monitoring of participation rates 
of adults and children in sport and 
physical recreation activities, both 
at the State and National levels.

The monitoring and understanding of 
participation rates is vital to assist the 
Department’s delivery of programs and 
services to the support Western Australian’s 
ongoing participation and involvement 
in sport and active recreation. 

The Australian Sports Commission (ASC) 
in consultation with the Committee of 
Australian Sport and Recreation Officers 
(CASRO) has undertaken to fund and 
manage a National Participation in Sport 
and Physical Recreation Survey (AusPlay)33 
to better provide appropriate participation 
data to support current and future sport and 
recreation industry needs and outcomes. 
From late 2015, AusPlay became the single-
source data currency for government and the 
sport sector that not only tracks Australian 
sport participation behaviours but also informs 
investment, policy and sport delivery. 

31 Note there are other Government departments which contribute to sport and active recreation outcomes i.e. planning and 
infrastructure regarding sport and recreation facilities and usage of public open space, health regarding health and physical 
activity promotion, conservation and land management regarding access to and usage of parks for recreation usage.

32 Organised sport and physical recreation is physical activity for exercise, recreation or sport that was undertaken through an organisation, like a 
club or a gym or at a venue like a pool or an oval. The measure for organised sport and active recreation includes all Western Australians (aged 
15 years and over) who participated in a sport-related activity or non-sport related physical activity through an organisation during the survey 
period. Sport-related activities include, for example, team sports (basketball, football, Australian football, cricket, netball, etc.), athletics (including 
running and jogging), swimming, cycling, golf, etc. These are typically activities related to National Sport Organisations (BSOs), although the 
participant may or may not play the activity through an organisation. Non-sport-related physical activities include, for example, gym/fitness 
activities, bushwalking, recreational (non-sport) dance, etc. These are typically activities not related to National Sport Organisations (NSOs).

33 Refer to https://www.clearinghouseforsport.gov.au/research/smi/ausplay/results/national – first summary report published 21 December 2016.
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The AusPlay data will not be directly 
comparable to previous participation 
data collections i.e. the Multi-Purpose 
Household Survey (MPHS)34 or the Exercise 
Recreation and Sport Survey (ERASS)35 due 
to variations in survey methodology relating 
to question wording, sampling and fieldwork 
approaches and non-response bias. 

2015/16  
Actual

2016/17  
Target

2016/17  
Actual

Western Australian participation in 
organised sport and active recreation

56%37 56% n/a*

* Participation data for the 2016/17 period will be published in December 2017, hence 
is not available for the Department’s 2016/17 Annual Report.

Via this new AusPlay Survey (published in 
December 2016), a baseline for participation 
by Western Australians in organised sport 
and active recreation has been established. 
The baseline of 56%36 is an average of 
participation rates for WA males and 
females (aged 15 years and over) involved 
in organised sport and active recreation.

The Department’s desired outcome is that 
participation rates for Western Australians 
in sport and active recreation ultimately be 
maintained and/or increased. In 2015/16, 
almost 86%38 of Western Australian adults 
(aged 15 years and over) were involved in 
some sort of sport or physical recreation 
and 56%39 of persons undertook at 
least one of their activities through an 
organisation (i.e. like a club or a gym or 
at a venue like a pool or oval) compared 
to the national average of 55%40.

Sixty percent (60%)41 of Western Australian 
adults participated in sport and physical 
recreation at least three (3) times per week, 
compared to the national average of 59%42.

During 2015/16, 71%43 of Western Australian 
children (aged 0 to 14) participated in 
organised sport and physical recreation, 
outside school hours, at least once during 
the 12-month period. Fifty three percent 
(53%)44 of Western Australian children 
participated in organised sport and physical 
recreation on a weekly basis, compared 
to the national average of 54%45.

34 For the years 2011 to 2014, the Multi-Purpose Household Survey (MPHS) was the official adult participation statistics for the Australian Government at all 
levels until the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) decided in 2014 to discontinue a number of data collections which included the Culture, Sport and 
Recreation Statistics. The ABS announced on Thursday 5 June 2014 that it would be making significant changes to its statistical programme in a bid to 
save $50 million over the next three years. This included discontinuing a number of data collections which included the Culture, Sport and Recreation 
statistics. Refer: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mediareleasesbyCatalogue/745695D9AEBEFE64CA257CEE0004715C?Opendocument

35 For the years 2000 to 2010, the Exercise Recreation and Sport Survey (ERASS) was utilised by the DSR for monitoring participation 
rates. Undertaken annually, this survey was managed and funded by the Australian Sports Commission (ASC), State and Territory 
Departments of Sport and Recreation through the Committee of Australian Sport and Recreation Officials (CASRO), previously known 
as the Standing Committee on Recreation and Sport (SCORS). http://www.ausport.gov.au/information/casro/ERASS

36 AusPlay State/Territory data, Western Australia – https://www.clearinghouseforsport.gov.au/research/smi/ausplay/results/state – AusPlay 
Survey results for October 2015 to September 2016, published 23 January 2017. Table 3: Organisation/venue use (adults).

37 Refer to footnote 36.
38 Refer to footnote 36 – Table 1: Demographics of participants (adults).
39 Refer to footnote 36.
40 AusPlay Survey, National data – https://www.clearinghouseforsport.gov.au/research/smi/ausplay/results/state – AusPlay Survey 

results for October 2015 to September 2016, published 11 January 2017. Table 3: Organisation/venue use (adults).
41 Refer to footnote 36, State/Territory data, Western Australia – Table 5: Frequency of participation (adults).
42 Refer to Footnote 40, National data – Table 6: Frequency of participation (adults).
43 Refer to Footnote 36, State/Territory data, Western Australia – Table 6: Frequency of participation (children).
44 Refer to footnote 36, State/Territory data, Western Australia – Table 6: Frequency of participation (children).
45 Refer to Footnote 40, National data – Table 7: Frequency of participation (children).
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Eighty three percent (83%)46 of Western 
Australian adults who identified as being of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander origin 
had participated in a sport or physical 
activity over the last 12 months, compared 
to the national average of 76%47.

Seventy eight percent (78%)48 of Western 
Australian adults who speak a language other 
than English at home participated in a sport or 
physical activity over the last twelve months, 
compared to the national average of 81%49.

Seventy two percent (72%)50 of Western 
Australian adults with a disability or physical 
condition that restricts life in some way 
participated in a sport or physical activity 
over the last twelve months, compared 
to the national average of 75%51.

Almost 350,000 (15.6%) of Western 
Australian adults (aged 15 years and over) 
were involved with sports in a non-playing 
role, such as an official, coach, referee or 
administrator in the 2015/16 period52.

Effectiveness Indicator No. 6
Satisfaction rating of recreation camps 
management and service delivery

This effectiveness measure reflects the 
satisfaction rating of the Department’s 
camp clients with venue, accommodation, 
management, program and catering at 
the camps at Bickley, Ern Halliday, Point 
Walter, Woodman Point and Quaranup53. 
The Department’s intent is to provide 
quality outdoor participation experiences, 
bed nights/accommodation, excellence in 
service delivery and value for money – all in 
a unique recreational camp environment.

Client feedback is provided each year via the 
Annual Client Survey about satisfaction ratings 
on venue and accommodation (i.e. standard 
of accommodation and meeting room 
facilities), camp management (i.e. information 
provided, staff responsiveness and 
booking procedures), program delivery (i.e. 
knowledge/ability of instructor and standard 
of program) and the catering provided 
(i.e. food quality and customer service). 
The ratings for all aspects are aggregated 
across all camps and reported below.

46 Refer to Footnote 36, State/Territory data, Western Australia – Table 1: Demographics of participation (adults).
47 Refer to Footnote 40, National data – Table 1: Demographics of participation (adults).
48 Refer to Footnote 46.
49 Refer to Footnote 47.
50 Refer to Footnote 46.
51 Refer to Footnote 47.
52 Refer to Footnote 36, State/Territory data – Table 13: Non-playing roles (adults).
53 In previous years Camp Quaranup in Albany has been leased out to a private operator. During the 2012/13 year, DSR took on the role as caretaker 

of this camp whilst exploring future management options. DSR is now directly responsible for the operation of all five recreation camps. 
54 Refer to footnote 15.

2008/09 
Actual

2009/10 
Actual

2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Satisfaction 
rating of 
camps 
management 
and service 
delivery

93% 93% 94% 92% 96% 95% 94% 95% 87% 94%54 7%
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The Recreation Camps have maintained the 
high client satisfaction rating achieved in 
2015/16 with an average client satisfaction 
rating over the past nine years of 94%. 

Throughout 2016/17 the Recreation Camps 
continue to be a popular vehicle for engaging 
schools and community groups in camp 
experiences, outdoor learning and promoting 
physically active lifestyles. This outcome 

affirms the support of our booked clients in 
the available program options and the value 
with which camp experiences are held within 
the education and sports sectors. During 
2016/17, the Department has also hosted 
community open days at Quaranup and 
Bickley to extend access of these amenities 
to the local community. The Department 
continues to be a leader in outdoor 
recreation training facilitation and delivery.

55 Refer to footnote 3.
56 Refer to footnote 4.
57 Refer to footnote 5.
58 Refer to footnote 7.
59 The 22% variation to the 2016/17 Budget target unit cost was due to an increase in the number of grants managed 

primarily due to the introduction of the Local Projects Local Jobs grants and also influenced by increases in the 
number of SSFP and CPRP grants and a slight increase in CSRFF grants managed during 2016/17.

Service 1: Industry leadership and infrastructure development.
Service description

Provide strategic leadership for the sport and recreation industry and support 
for infrastructure development through funding and advice to sport and 
recreation groups Statewide, including State and local governments.

Key efficiency indicators 2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Cost
Average cost of providing 
consultancy55 (policy, 
advocacy and infrastructure) 
to organisations56

$8,937 $10,083 $10,930 $10,874 ($56)

Average cost of providing 
contact services57 (policy, 
advocacy and infrastructure) 
to organisations

$340 $526 $732 $740 $8

Average cost to manage58 
infrastructure grants 

$2,759 $3,288 $2,713 $2,114 ($599)59

Key Performance Indicators – Efficiency
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60 The 12% variation to 2016/17 Budget target unit cost was primarily due to the decrease in employee expenditure due to the reduction in FTEs.
61 Refer to footnote 5.
62 Refer to footnote 60.
63 Refer to footnote 7.
64 The variation to 2016/17 Budget target unit cost was due to: an increase in the total number of grants managed as one-off savings were utilised to 

support grant requests for a range of small grants programs (i.e. SSA Annual Grants, regional grants and Community Participation Fund grants), 
thus maintaining the total grants managed at the 2015/16 level, as well as a decrease in employee expenditure due to the reduction in FTEs.

65 Refer to footnote 11.
66 Refer to footnote 12.
67 The 11% variation to the 2016/17 Budget target unit cost was due to an increased take up of day programs by school groups in 2016/17.

Service 2: Building capacity and participation.
Service description

Provide support for organisations and personnel delivering sport and recreation 
Statewide from participation to the elite level through advice and funding support.

Key efficiency indicators 2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Cost
Average cost of providing 
consultancy (organisational 
development and participation) 
to organisations

$12,561 $13,554 $17,613 $15,523 ($2,090)60

Average cost of providing 
contact services61 
(organisational development 
and participation) to 
organisations

$183 $309 $468 $413 ($55)62

Average cost to manage63 
sport and recreation 
development grants

$1,774 $2,002 $2,668 $1,893 ($775)64

Service 3: Recreation camps management and service delivery.
Service description

Provide experiential outdoor activities to the community through the management of recreation camps.

Key efficiency indicators 2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Target

2016/17 
Actual

Variation

Cost
Average cost per bed night65 $51 $57 $51 $53 $2
Average cost per participation66 $24 $24 $27 $24 ($3)67
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The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Sport and 
Recreation have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records 
to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period 
ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 30 June 2017.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which 
would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Damian Rosielle 
Chief Financial Officer

Date: 24 August 2017

Certification of Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Department of Sport and Recreation

Report on Operations
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Actual Results versus Budget Targets

Financial Targets

2016-17 
Target(1) 

$’000

2016-17 
Actual 
$’000

Variation(2) 
$’000

Total cost of services (expense limit) (a) 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

91,764 91,227 (537)

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

85,071 85,093 22

Total equity (a) 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position)

603,377 577,047 (26,330)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (b) 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)

(655) (30,932) (30,277)

No. No. No.

Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 192 168 (24)

Financial Statements

(1) As specified in the Government of Western Australia’s Budget Statements’ figures for the 2016-17 Financial Year
(2) Further explanations are also contained in Note 34 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the financial statements
(a) The variance is largely due to the capital payments for Perth Stadium being less than budgeted, which impacts the capital 
appropriation paid. The invoices can be significant for this capital project and can cause large variations between actual and 
budget if they are not received as anticipated.
(b) The variance is due to the timing of capital appropriations and payments relating to Perth Stadium. In addition, there was an 
increase in appropriation receipts without a matching increase in grant payments due to timing.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators

2016-17 
Target

2016-17 
Actual Variation

Effectiveness Measures

Satisfaction rating of policy development and 
leadership provided by the department

85% 93% 8%

Satisfaction rating of the department's 
consultation advice to clients

90% 88% -2%

Satisfaction rating of the department's 
grant's management

85% 89% 4%

Satisfaction rating of the Department's 
programs, initiatives and resources

90% 92% 2%

Western Australian participation in organised 
sport and active recreation (c)

56% n/a n/a

Satisfaction rating of recreation camps 
management and service delivery

87% 94% 7%

Efficiency Measures

Service 1: Industry leadership and infrastructure development

Average cost of providing consultancy (policy, 
advocacy and infrastructure) to organisations

$10,930 $10,874 ($56)

Average cost of providing the contact services 
(policy, advocacy and infrastructure)

$732 $740 $8

Average cost to manage infrastructure grants $2,713 $2,114 ($599)

Service 2: Building capacity and participation

Average cost of providing consultancy (organisational 
development and participation) to organisations

$17,613 $15,523 ($2,090)

Average cost of providing the contact services 
(organisational development and participation)

$468 $413 ($55)

Average cost to manage sport and 
recreation development grants

$2,668 $1,893 ($775)

Service 3: Recreation camps management and service delivery

Average cost per bed-night $51 $53 $2

Average cost per participation $27 $24 ($3)

(c) The participation data for the 2016-17 period will be published in December 2017, hence is not available for the Department’s Annual report.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017  
$’000

2016  
$’000

Cost of Services

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6  17,657  18,327 

Supplies and services 8  7,385  7,175 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9  1,496  1,532 

Accommodation expenses 10  1,967  1,824 

Grants and subsidies 11  62,303  63,401 

Other expenses 12  419  295 

Total cost of services  91,227  92,554 

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees 14  4,556  4,344 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 15  385  304 

Other revenue 16  1,193  3,525 

Total revenue  6,134  8,173 

Total income other than income from State Government  6,134  8,173 

Net Cost of Services  85,093  84,381 

Income From State Government

 Service appropriation 17  85,350  78,570 

 Revenue from general government agencies 17  738  1,110 

 Services received free of charge 17  174  148 

 Royalties for Regions Fund 17  4,285  5,958 

Total income from State Government  90,547  85,786 

Surplus / (Deficit) for the Period  5,454  1,405 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus  –  1,398 

Total other comprehensive income  –  1,398 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  5,454  2,803 

See also the “Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service”. 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Statements
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Department of Sport and Recreation

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2017

Note 2017  
$’000

2016  
$’000

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  31(a)  26,585  55,925 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18  735  2,407 

Inventories 19  31  21 

Receivables 20  3,877  3,756 

Amounts receivable for services 21  604  604 

Total Current Assets  31,832  62,713 

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18  80  – 

Amounts receivable for services 21  10,760  9,965 

Other non-current assets 22  414,714  205,890 

Property, plant and equipment 23  124,333  96,794 

Intangible assets 25  504  622 

Total Non-Current Assets  550,391  313,271 

Total Assets  582,223  375,984 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Payables 27  250  169 

Provisions 28  3,075  3,099 

Other current liabilities 29  894  813 

Total Current Liabilities  4,219  4,081 

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 28  957  777 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  957  777 

Total Liabilities  5,176  4,858 

Net Assets  577,047  371,126 

Equity

Contributed equity 30  563,806  363,339 

Reserves 30  5,267  5,267 

Accumulated surplus 30  7,974  2,520 

TOTAL EQUITY  577,047  371,126 

See also the “Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service”. 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Statements
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Department of Sport and Recreation

Statement of Changes In Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note Contributed 
Equity 
$’000

Reserves 
$’000

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) 

$’000

Total Equity 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2015 30  100,750  3,869  1,115  105,734 

Surplus/(deficit) – –  1,405  1,405 

Other comprehensive 
income

–  1,398 –  1,398 

Total comprehensive 
expenses for the period

–  1,398  1,405  2,803 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  259,000 – –  259,000 

Other contributions 
by owners

 5,600 – –  5,600 

Distribution to owners  (2,011) – –  (2,011)

Total  262,589  1,398  1,405  265,392 

Balance at 30 June 2016  363,339  5,267  2,520  371,126 

Balance at 1 July 2016 30  363,339  5,267  2,520  371,126 

Surplus/(deficit) – –  5,454  5,454 

Other comprehensive 
income

– – –  – 

Total comprehensive 
expenses for the period

–  –  5,454  5,454 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  200,872 – –  200,872 

Other contributions 
by owners

– – –  – 

Distribution to owners  (405) – –  (405)

Total  200,467  –  5,454  205,921 

Balance at 30 June 2017  563,806  5,267  7,974  577,047 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Statements
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Note 2017  
$’000

2016  
$’000

Cash Flows from State Government

Service appropriation  83,951  77,171 

Capital appropriations  206,472  259,000 

Receipts from general government agencies  738  1,110 

Holding account drawdowns  604  604 

Royalties for Regions Fund  4,285  5,958 

Net cash provided by State Government  296,050  343,843 

Utilised as follows:

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Payments

Employee benefits  (17,407)  (19,061)

Supplies and services  (7,296)  (7,189)

Grants and subsidies  (62,303)  (63,401)

Accommodation  (1,879)  (1,782)

GST payments on purchases  (31,816)  (28,853)

Other payments  (796)  (185)

Receipts

User charges and fees  4,621  4,525 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  385  304 

GST receipts on sales  1,235  1,101 

GST receipts from taxation authority  30,675  26,842 

Other receipts  1,139  3,663 

Net cash used in operating activities 31(b)  (83,442)  (84,036)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (29,116)  (14,723)

Net cash used in investing activities  (29,116)  (14,723)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Payments

Other payments for Perth Stadium  (220,424)  (205,890)

Receipts

Receipts from financing activities  6,000  5,600 

Net cash used in financing activities  (214,424)  (200,290)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (30,932)  44,794 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  58,332  13,538 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 31(a)  27,400  58,332 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Statements
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Industry leadership 
and infrastructure 

development
Building capacity 
and participation

Recreation Camps 
Management Total

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

Cost of Services

Expenses

Employee benefits 
expense

 4,925  4,818  7,931  8,820  4,801  4,689  17,657  18,327 

Supplies and services  1,949  2,025  3,231  2,993  2,205  2,157  7,385  7,175 

Depreciation and 
amortisation expenses

 150  153  269  276  1,077  1,103  1,496  1,532 

Accommodation expenses  549  592  1,080  990  338  242  1,967  1,824 

Grants and subsidies  35,067  36,324  27,236  27,077  –  –  62,303  63,401 

Other expenses  141  37  90  63  188  195  419  295 

Total cost of services 42,781 43,949 39,837 40,219 8,609 8,386 91,227 92,554 

Income

User charges and fees  –  –  13  19  4,543  4,325  4,556  4,344 

Commonwealth grants 
and contributions

 68  –  317  304  –  –  385  304 

Other revenue  212  2,486  909  824  72  215  1,193  3,525 

Total income other 
than income from 
State Government

 280  2,486  1,239  1,147  4,615  4,540  6,134  8,173 

Net Cost Of Services 42,501 41,463 38,598 39,072  3,994  3,846 85,093 84,381 

Income from State 
Government

Service Appropriation  43,335  40,680  38,086  34,110  3,929  3,780  85,350  78,570 

Revenue from general 
Government agencies

 27  –  711  1,110  –  –  738  1,110 

Services received 
free of charge

 77  80  67  60  30  8  174  148 

Royalties for Regions  
Fund

 3,308  4,725  977  1,233  –  –  4,285  5,958 

Total income from 
State Government

46,747 45,485 39,841 36,513  3,959  3,788 90,547 85,786 

Surplus / (Deficit) 
for the Period

 4,246  4,022  1,243 (2,559) (35) (58)  5,454  1,405 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The three key services of the Department are:

Service 1: Industry leadership and infrastructure development 
This service provides strategic leadership for the sport and 
recreation industry and support for infrastructure development 
through funding and advice to sport and recreation groups 
State-wide, including State and local governments.

Service 2: Building capacity and participation 
This service provides support for organisations and personnel 
delivering sport and recreation State-wide from participation 
to the elite level through advice and funding support.

Service 3: Recreation Camps Management 
This service provides experiential outdoor activities to the 
community through the management of recreation camps.

Financial Statements
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Department of Sport and Recreation

Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
as at 30 June 2017

Industry leadership 
and infrastructure 

development
Building capacity 
and participation

Recreation Camps 
Management Total

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

Assets

Current assets  25,794  56,647  4,063  4,024  1,975  2,042  31,832  62,713 

Non-current assets  522,057  284,593  2,732  3,081  25,602  25,597  550,391  313,271 

Total assets  547,851  341,240  6,795  7,105  27,577  27,639  582,223  375,984 

Liabilities

Current liabilities  1,293  1,096  1,325  1,611  1,601  1,374  4,219  4,081 

Non-current liabilities  299  234  460  374  198  169  957  777 

Total liabilities  1,592  1,330  1,785  1,985  1,799  1,543  5,176  4,858 

Net Assets  546,259  339,910  5,010  5,120  25,778  26,096  577,047  371,126 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The three key services of the Department are:

Service 1: Industry leadership and infrastructure development 
This service provides strategic leadership for the sport and recreation industry and support for infrastructure development through 
funding and advice to sport and recreation groups State-wide, including State and local governments.

Service 2: Building capacity and participation 
This service provides support for organisations and personnel delivering sport and recreation State-wide from participation to the 
elite level through advice and funding support.

Service 3: Recreation Camps Management 
This service provides experiential outdoor activities to the community through the management of recreation camps.

Financial Statements
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Department of Sport and Recreation

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 
Estimate 

$’000

2017 
Actual 
$’000

Variance 
$’000

2017 
Actual 
$’000

2016 
Actual 
$’000

Variance 
$’000

Delivery of Services

Item 97 Net amount appropriated 
to deliver services

 42,758  52,025  9,267  52,025  41,953  10,072 

Item 98 Contribution to 
Community Sporting and 
Recreation Facilities Fund

 20,000  18,000 (2,000)  18,000  20,000 (2,000) 

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes:

Lotteries Commission Act 1990  16,965  15,000 (1,965)  15,000  16,300 (1,300) 

Salaries and Allowances 
Act 1975

 325  325  –  325  317  8 

Total appropriations provided 
to deliver services

 80,048  85,350  5,302  85,350  78,570  6,780 

Capital

Perth Stadium Account  240,600  206,472 (34,128)  206,472  259,000 (52,528) 

Capital appropriations  240,600  206,472 (34,128)  206,472  259,000 (52,528) 

Administered Transactions

Item 99 Amount provided for 
Administered Grants, Subsidies 
and Other Transfer Payments

 814  814  –  814  786  28 

Grand Total 321,462 292,636 (28,826) 292,636 338,356 (45,720) 

Details of Expenses by Service

Industry leadership and 
infrastructure development

 43,244  42,781 (463)  42,781  43,949 (1,168) 

Building capacity and participation  39,567  39,837  270  39,837  40,219 (382) 

Recreation camps management  8,953  8,609 (344)  8,609  8,386  223 

Total Costs of Services  91,764  91,227 (193)  91,227  92,554 (49,887) 

Less total income (6,693) (6,134)  559 (6,134) (8,173)  2,039 

Net Cost of Services  85,071  85,093  366  85,093  84,381 (47,848) 

Adjustments (5,023)  257  5,280  257 (5,811)  6,068 

Total appropriations provided 
to deliver services

 80,048  85,350  5,646  85,350  78,570 (41,780) 

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current 
physical assets

 241,204  207,076 (34,128)  207,076  259,604 (52,528) 

Adjustments for other 
funding sources

(604) (604)  – (604) (604)  – 

Capital appropriations  240,600  206,472 (34,128)  206,472  259,000 (52,528) 

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 34 ‘Explanatory statement’ and Note 39 ‘Explanatory statement for Administered Items’ provide details of any 
significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016.

Financial Statements
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1 Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Department’s financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2017 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable, 
new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an 
Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. There has been no early 
adoption of Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Department for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2017.

2 Summary of significant 
accounting policies
(a) General Statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting 
entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s 
instructions. Several of these are modified 
by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s instructions impose 
legislative provisions that govern the 

preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a 
material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention, 
except for land and buildings which 
have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the 
process of applying the Department’s 
accounting policies resulting in the 
most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next reporting period.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(c) Reporting Entity
The reporting entity is the Department. 
There are no related bodies.

Mission
The Department’s mission is to 
enhance the quality of life of Western 
Australians through their participation and 
achievement in sport and recreation.

The Department is predominantly funded by 
Parliamentary appropriations supplemented 
by user charges levied for use of camp 
facilities on a fee-for-service basis. The 
financial statements encompass all funds 
through which the Department controls 
resources to carry on its functions.

Services
The Department provides the 
following services:

Service 1: Industry leadership and 
infrastructure development 
This service provides strategic leadership 
for the sport and recreation industry and 
support for infrastructure development 
through funding and advice to sport and 
recreation groups State-wide, including 
State and local governments.

Service 2: Building capacity and 
participation 
This service provides support for organisations 
and personnel delivering sport and recreation 
State-wide from participation to the elite 
level through advice and funding support.

Service 3: Recreation Camps Management 
This service provides experiential outdoor 
activities to the community through the 
management of recreation camps.

The Department administers assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of 
Government which are not controlled by, nor 
integral, to the function of the Department. 
These administered balances and transactions 
are not recognised in the principal financial 
statements of the Department, but schedules 
are prepared using the same basis as the 
financial statements and are presented at 
note 40 ‘Administered assets and liabilities’.

(d) Contributed Equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions, other than as a result of 
a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time 
of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital appropriations have been designated 
as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly 
Owned Public Sector Entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 30 ‘Equity’.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at 
the fair value of consideration received 
or receivable. Revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale 
of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership transfer to the purchaser 
and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised 
as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  
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The Department gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to 
the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts 
receivable for services’ (holding account) held 
at Treasury. See also note 17 ‘Income from 
State Government’ for further information.

Income due under the Lotteries Commission 
Act 1990 is recognised as revenue when 
appropriated to the Department.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination 
providing for prescribed receipts to be 
retained for services under the control 
of the Department. In accordance 
with the determination specified in the 
2016-2017 Budget Statements, the 
Department retained $6.9 million ($9.3 
million in 2016) from the following:

• proceeds from fees and charges;
• Commonwealth specific purpose 

grants and contributions;
• one-off gains with a value of less 

than $10,000 derived from the sale of 
property other than real property; and

• other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other 
non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when 
the Department obtains control over the 
assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are 
not contributions by owners are recognised 
at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can 
be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised 
as revenue at fair value in the period in which 
the Department obtains control over the 
funds. The Department obtains control of the 
funds at the time the funds are deposited 
into the Department’s bank account.

Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets 
and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets 
and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of 
property, plant and equipment costing less 
than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(other than where they form part of a group 
of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially 
recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an 
asset, the revaluation model is used for 
the measurement of land and buildings 
and historical cost for all other property, 
plant and equipment. Land and buildings 
are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated 
impairment losses. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference to 
recent market transactions. When buildings 
are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount.
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In the absence of market-based evidence, fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on 
the basis of existing use. This normally applies 
where buildings are specialised or where 
land use is restricted. Fair value for existing 
use buildings is determined by reference to 
the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, 
i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is determined on 
the depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair 
value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land 
with similar approximate utility (high restricted 
land use) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued 
annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) 
and recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

The most significant assumptions and 
judgements in estimating fair value are made 
in assessing whether to apply the existing use 
basis to assets and in determining estimated 
economic life. Professional judgment by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does 
not provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets.

See also note 23 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
for further information on revaluations.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the 
asset revaluation surplus.

Asset Revaluation Surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to  
record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation of non-current assets on a class  
of assets basis.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited  
useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight 
line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class 
of depreciable asset are:

Buildings Up to 20 years 
Plant and Equipment 3 to 20 years 
Office Equipment 3 years

Land is not depreciated.

Motor vehicles used by the Department are 
leased. See note 2(i).

(g) Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing 
$5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets 
is expensed (amortised) over their useful 
lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds 
are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at 
cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which 
is reviewed annually) on the straight line 
basis. All intangible assets controlled by the 
Department have a finite useful life and zero 
residual value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are:

Software(a) 3 years  
Website costs 3 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any  
related hardware.

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as 
an intangible asset. Software costing less than 
$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses 
when they are incurred unless they relate to 
the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility 
studies during the planning phase of a 
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance 
during the operating phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 
website that can be reliably measured, are 
capitalised to the extent that they represent 
probable future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment, and intangible 
assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is 
less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to 
the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised. Where an asset measured 
at cost is written down to recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. Where a previously revalued asset is 
written down to recoverable amount, the loss 
is recognised as a revaluation decrement 
in other comprehensive income. As the 
Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless 
a specialised asset has been identified as 
a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation 
is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there 
is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption 
or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
and intangible assets not yet available for 
use are tested for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period irrespective of whether 
there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified 
as surplus assets is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair 
value have no risk of material impairment 
where fair value is determined by reference 
to market-based evidence. Where fair value 
is determined by reference to depreciated 
replacement cost, surplus assets are at 
risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost 
are tested for indications of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period.

See note 26 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the 
outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

Refer also to note 2(o) ‘Receivables’.

(i) Leases
The Department holds operating leases 
for head office, a number of branch office 
buildings and motor vehicles. Lease 
payments are expensed on a straight 
line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefits derived 
from the leased properties and vehicles.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(j) Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has 
two categories of financial instrument:

• Loans and receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured 

at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been 
disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
• Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of 
financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost  
or the face value. Subsequent measurement  
is at amortised cost using the effective  
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables 
and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement  
is not required as the effect of discounting  
is not material.

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash 
Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 27 ‘Payables’) 
represent the amount due to staff but unpaid 
at the end of the reporting period. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of 
the reporting period end. The Department 
considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account 
(see note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents’) consists of amounts paid 
annually, from Departmental appropriations for 
salaries expense, into a suspense account to 
meet the additional cash outflow for employee 
salary payments in reporting periods with 
27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No 
interest is received on this account.

(m) Amounts Receivable for Services  
(Holding Account)
The Department receives income from 
the State Government partly in cash 
and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable). The accrued amount receivable 
is accessible on the emergence of the 
cash funding requirement to cover leave 
entitlements and asset replacement.

See also note 17 ‘Income from State 
Government’ and note 21 ’Amounts receivable 
for services’.

(n) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Costs are assigned 
by the method most appropriate for each 
particular class of inventory, with the majority 
being measured on a first in first out basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured 
at cost unless they are no longer required, 
in which case they are measured at net 
realisable value. See also note 19 ‘Inventories’.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified 
as uncollectible are written-off against 
the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is 
raised when there is objective evidence that 
the Department will not be able to collect 
the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days. See note 2(j) ‘Financial 
Instruments and note 20 ‘Receivables’.
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(p) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts 
payable when the Department becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or services. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as settlement is generally within 
30 days. See also note 2(j) ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and note 27 ‘Payables’.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or 
amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event and when the outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. See also note 28 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions – Employee Benefits
All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual Leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore considered 
to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. 
The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, including non-
salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified 
as a current liability as the Department does 
not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.

Long Service Leave
Long service leave is not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. 
The expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as current liabilities as the 
Department does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. Pre-conditional and conditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Department 
has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee 
has completed the requisite years of service.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employees vary  
according to commencement and 
implementation dates.
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Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 
16 April 2007 who were not members of either 
the Pension Scheme or the GSS became 
non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 
2007 became members of the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and 
new employees have been able to choose 
their preferred superannuation fund provider. 
The Department makes contributions to GESB 
or other fund provider on behalf of employees 
in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Department’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for 
the purposes of employees and whole-
of-government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by the Department to 
GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations 
to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under 
the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The 
liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits 
attributable to members who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed 
by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations 
are funded by concurrent contributions 
made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments 
in respect of the Pension Scheme and 
GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer 
for the employer’s share. See also Note 
2(r) ‘Superannuation expense’.

Provisions – Other
Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included as part 
of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as 
part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits 
expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(r) Superannuation Expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income comprises of 
employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, the 
GESBS, or other superannuation funds.  
The employer contribution paid to the GESB 
in respect of the GSS is paid back into the 
Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(s) Assets and services received free of 
charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge 
or for nominal cost, that the Department 
would otherwise purchase if not donated, 
are recognised as income at the fair value 
of the assets or services where they can be 
reliably measured. A corresponding expense 
is recognised for services received. Receipts 
of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State 
Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current reporting period.
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3 Judgements made by 
management in applying 
accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The Department 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Department has entered into a number 
of leases for buildings for branch office 
accommodation. Some of these leases 
relate to buildings of a temporary nature 
and it has been determined that the 
lessor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, these leases have been 
classified as operating leases.

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Department.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), 
grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely 
acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of  
the Standard.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation 
and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits.

4 Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next reporting period.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used 
in calculating the Department’s long service 
leave provision include expected future 
salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future 
payments. Changes in these estimations and 
assumptions may impact on the carrying 
amount of the long service leave provision.
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AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method 
in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to 
allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. As the Department has no 
joint ventures and associates, the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Annual 
Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012 2014 Cycle 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard  
Annual Improvements to IFRS’s 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. 
The Department has determined that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements 
in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address 
some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements 
and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining 
what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 
& AASB 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to 
be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of  
1 January 2016. There is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements 
or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Department has early 
adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures 
of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the 
following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being 
amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2019
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.

The Department’s income is principally derived from appropriations which will be measured 
under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and will be unaffected by this change. 
However, the Department has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard on ‘User 
charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and 
conditions attached to these revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Department has 
discharged its performance obligations.

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 
asset is of low value.

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently has operating lease 
commitments for $2.9 million. The Department anticipates most of this amount will be brought 
onto the statement of financial position, excepting amounts pertinent to short-term or low-value 
leases. Interest and amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 1 Jan 2019
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not for 
profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that 
are not contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is dependent on whether such 
a transaction gives rise to a liability, a performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good 
or service), or, an obligation to acquire an asset. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and 
AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2018
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Department to determine the application or 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date 
of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The Department has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The mandatory 
effective date (application date) for the Standard has been deferred to 1 Jan 2018 by AASB 
2015-10. The Department has determined that the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

1 Jan 2019

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. For Not For Profit entities, the 
mandatory effective date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 by AASB 2016-7. 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures 
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no 
financial impact.
AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  

Clarifications to AASB 15
1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further 
transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  
Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised 
Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets 
of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use 
of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined under 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact.

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  
Deferral of AASB 15 for Not for Profit Entities

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 and defers 
the consequential amendments that were originally set out in AASB 2014-5 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for not for profit entities to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 January 2018. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation guidance for not-
for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying 
those Standards to particular transactions and other events. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Further Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure requirements 
apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are classified as held for sale, held for 
distribution to owners in their capacity as owners or discontinued operations in accordance with 
AASB 5. There is no financial impact.
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6 Employee benefits expense
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Wages and salaries  13,991  14,484 
Superannuation – defined 
contribution plans (i)

 1,571  1,642 

Long service leave (ii)  463  419 
Annual leave (ii)  1,207  1,293 
Other related expenses (iii)  425  489 

 17,657  18,327 

(i) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds.

(ii) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

(iii) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at 
Note 12 ‘Other expenses’. Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 28 ‘Provisions’.
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7 Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The Department has determined that key management personnel include Ministers and senior 
officers of the Department. However, the Department is not obligated to compensate Ministers 
and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be found in the Annual 
Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented 
within the following bands:

Compensation Band ($)  2017  2016 

340,001 – 350,000  1  – 
330,000 – 340,000  –  1 
220,001 – 230,000  1  – 
210,001 – 220,000  2  2 
200,001 – 210,000  1  – 
190,001 – 200,000  1  4 
180,001 – 190,000  1  – 
170,001 – 180,000  1  1 
160,001 – 170,000  5  4 
150,001 – 160,000  3  3 
140,001 – 150,000  1  1 
130,001 – 140,000  –  2 
120,001 – 130,000  –  1 
100,001 – 110,000  1  – 
90,000 – 100,000  1  1 
70,000 – 80,000  2  – 
50,000 – 60,000  1  – 
40,000 – 50,000  2  – 

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits  3,561  3,422 
Other long-term benefits  110  60 
Total compensation of senior officers  3,671  3,481 
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8 Supplies and services
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Communications  730  755 
Consultants and contractors  3,055  2,524 
Materials  791  960 
Motor vehicles  417  414 
Travel  183  202 
Other  2,209  2,320 

 7,385  7,175 

9 Depreciation and amortisation expense
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Depreciation
Plant and equipment  196  198 
Buildings  825  901 
Computer equipment  13  63 
Total depreciation  1,034  1,162 

Amortisation
Intangible assets  462  370 
Total amortisation  462  370 
Total depreciation and amortisation  1,496  1,532 

10 Accommodation expenses
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Lease rentals  1,615  1,454 
Repairs and maintenance  148  174 
Cleaning  204  196 

 1,967  1,824 
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11 Grants and subsidies
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Recurrent
Sports financial grants  11,846  9,992 
Sports Lotteries Account  15,750  15,648 
Royalties for Region Funds  4,032  4,366 

 31,628  30,006 

Capital
Sports financial grants  12,690  12,518 
Community Sporting and 
Recreational Funds 

 17,668  19,463 

Royalties for Region Funds  317  1,414 
 30,675  33,395 
 62,303  63,401 

12 Other expenses
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Equipment repairs and maintenance  386  258 
Employment on-costs (i)  6  1 
Doubtful / Bad debts  –  – 
Write offs  17  36 
Other  10  – 

 419  295 

(i) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-
costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is 
included at note 28 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the 
provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

13 Related Party Transactions
The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western 
Australia. In conducting its activities, the Department is required to pay various 
taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to 
all tax and levy payers to the State and entities related to State.
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Related parties of the department include:

• all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole 

of government consolidated financial statements;
• associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated 

financial statements; and
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with government related entities
Significant transactions include:

• service appropriations (Note 17)
• capital appropriations (Note 30)
• services received free of charge (Note 17)
• Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 17)
• superannuation payments to GESB (Note 6)
• audit fees to the Office of the Auditor General (Note 36)
• lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance (Note 10)
• payments to Combat Sports Commission (Note 37); and
• grants provided to Western Australian Institute of Sport (Note 37).

Material transactions with related parties
All other transactions (including general citizen type transactions) between the 
Department and Ministers/senior officers or their close family members or their 
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities are not material for disclosure.

14 User charges and fees
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Accommodation  2,207  2,015 
Fees from seminars  13  24 
Meals  463  434 
Programs  1,873  1,871 

 4,556  4,344 

15 Commonwealth grants and contributions
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Department of Health  83  – 
Prime Minister and Cabinet  204  204 
Department of Infrastructure 
and Regional Development

 98  100 

 385  304 
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16 Other revenue
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Expenditure Recoups  695  724 
Interest revenue  1  1 
Other (i)  497  2,800 

 1,193  3,525 

(i) The Government approved a grant to the Western Australian Sporting Car Club in 
2010 for the development of Barbagallo Raceway. In 2015-16 $2.2 million was returned 
to the government and appears in the financial statements as other revenue.

17 Income from State Government
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations (i)  85,350  78,570 

 85,350  78,570 

Revenues from General 
Government Agencies (ii)

 738  1,110 

 738  1,110 

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the financial period: (iii)
State Solicitors Office  78  56 
Department of Finance  96  92 

 174  148 

Royalties for Regions Fund
Regional Workers' Incentives  46  40 
Community Pool Revitalisation  3,295  3,300 
Regional Talent Development Network  694  1,002 
Sporting Club Equipment Subsidy  250  147 
Athlete Travel Subsidy  –  55 
Hay Park South Regional Multi Sports  –  1,414 

 4,285  5,958 

 90,547  85,786 
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(i) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave 
liabilities during the year.

(ii) Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government 
agencies are reported under Income from State Government. Other non-discretionary non-
reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 
are recognised directly to equity. The Revenues from General Government Agencies include: 
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor $0.65 million.

(iii) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at 
fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably determined and which would have 
been purchased if not donated, and those fair values measured and which would have been 
purchased if they were not donated.

18 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Community Sporting and 
Recreation Facilities Fund (i)

 81  264 

Sports Lotteries Account (iii)  103  855 
Australian Sports Commission (iv)  –  80 
Prime Minister and Cabinet  24  628 
Logue Brook Trust (ii)  59  58 
Sports Wagering (iv)  389  127 
Royalties for Regions (v)  79  395 

 735  2,407 

Non Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (vi)  80  – 

 80  – 

Total   Refer note 31(a)  815  2,407 
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The purposes of these accounts are set out below.

In accordance with section 16 (1) of the Financial Management Act 2006, the Department is 
required to report additional information about the Community Sporting Recreation Facilities 
Fund (CSRFF) and the Logue Brook Trust Fund (LBTF). See (i) and (ii) below.

(i) The purpose of the CSRFF account is to hold monies appropriated for the purpose of making 
grants for the development of public sporting and recreation facilities, and for the management 
and administration of those grants.

CSRFF
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Opening Balance of CSRFF Account  264  385
Receipts  18,145  20,002
Payments  18,328  20,123
Closing Balance of CSRFF Account 81 264

(ii) The purpose of the LBTF account is to hold monies appropriated for the purpose of funding 
the identification and re-establishment of recreation amenities, where practical, within the 
localities of nearby dams and inland water bodies following cessation of recreational access to 
Logue Brook. The money was received from Water Corporation in the 2007-08 financial year and 
after a change in government policy was repaid to Water Corporation in 2008-09. The balance of 
the account reflects interest earned on the amount.

LBTF
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Opening Balance of LBTF Account  58  56
Receipts – –
Interest 1 2
Payments – –
Closing Balance of LBTF Account 59 58

(iii) The purpose of the Sports Lotteries Account is to hold funds received by the Department of 
Sport and Recreation from Lotterywest pursuant to Section 22(2)(c) of the Lotteries Commission 
Amendment Act 1993.

(iv) Funds are being held on behalf of a number of organisations for a variety of sport 
development programs and initiatives ranging from work with specific target groups such as 
indigenous Australians, women and youth, to coaching, officiating and sport management 
initiatives and reviews.

(v) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(vi) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting 
period that occurs every 11th year.
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19 Inventories
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Inventories held for resale

Saleable publications and 
merchandise (at cost)

31 21

See also note 2 (n) “Inventories”.

20 Receivables
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Receivables  466  614 
GST receivable  2,793  2,861 

 3,259  3,475 

Prepayments  618  281 
Total current  3,877  3,756 

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as  
security for receivables.

See also note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 35 ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.

21 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current  604  604 
Non-current  10,760  9,965 

 11,364  10,569 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in 
that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

See also note 2(m) ‘Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)’.

Notes to the Financial Statements



124

22 Other Assets
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Non Current
Prepayments – Perth Stadium  414,714  205,890 

 414,714  205,890 

 414,714  205,890

23 Property, plant and equipment
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Freehold land
At fair value  1,665  1,665 

 1,665  1,665 
Buildings 
At fair value  15,747  15,737 
Accumulated depreciation  (825)  – 

 14,922  15,737 
Plant and equipment
At cost  4,090  4,023 
Accumulated depreciation  (2,239)  (2,158)

 1,851  1,865 
Office equipment
At cost  602  602 
Accumulated depreciation  (583)  (570)

 19  32 

Works in progress  105,876  77,495 

 124,333  96,794 

Freehold land and buildings was revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2016 and recognised at 30 June 2016. In undertaking the revaluation, fair 
value of land was determined in accordance with existing use and buildings by reference 
to market values. A revaluation did not occur during the 2016-17 financial year.
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

2017

Freehold 
Land 
$’000

Buildings 
$’000

Buildings 
Under  

Construction 
$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

 Office 
equipment  

$’000 
Total 

$’000

Carrying amount 
at start of period

 1,665  15,737  77,495  1,865 32  96,794

Additions 10  29,068 182  29,260
Revaluation 
Increments

–

Disposals –
Transfer (687) (687)
Revaluation 
increments

–

Depreciation (825) (196)  (13)  (1,034)
Carrying amount 
at end of period

 1,665  14,922  105,876  1,851  19  124,333

2016

Freehold 
Land 
$’000

Buildings 
$’000

Buildings 
Under  

Construction 
$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

 Office 
equipment  

$’000 
Total 

$’000

Carrying amount 
at start of period

 1,665  15,261  65,358  1,889  57  84,230 

Additions  14,365  36  38  14,439 
Revaluation 
Increments

 1,396  1,396 

Disposals –
Transfer (19) (2,228)  138  (2,109)
Revaluation 
increments

–

Depreciation (901) (198)  (63)  (1,162)
Carrying amount 
at end of period

 1,665  15,737  77,495  1,865  32  96,794 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 24.
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24 Fair value measurements
Asset measured at fair value:

2017
 Level 1  

$’000
 Level 2  

$’000
 Level 3  

$’000

 Fair Value At 
end of period  

$’000

Land (Note 23)  1,665  1,665 
Buildings (Note 23)  14,922  14,922 

– –  16,587  16,587 

2016
 Level 1  

$’000
 Level 2  

$’000
 Level 3  

$’000

 Fair Value At 
end of period  

$’000

Land (Note 23)  1,665  1,665 
Buildings (Note 23)  15,737  15,737 

– –  17,402  17,402 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Land and Buildings (office accommodation and camps 
infrastructure) are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales 
prices of comparable land and buildings (office accommodation and camps 
infrastructure) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2017
 Land  
$’000

 Buildings  
$’000

Fair Value at start of period  1,665  15,737 
Additions  –  10 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit or Loss

 –  – 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income

 –  – 

Reclassification  –  – 
Disposal  –  – 
Depreciation Expense  –  (825)
Fair Value at end of period  1,665  14,922 
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2016
 Land  
$’000

 Buildings  
$’000

Fair Value at start of period  1,665  15,261 
Additions  –  – 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit or Loss

 –  – 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income

 –  1,396 

Reclassification  – (19)
Disposal  –  – 
Depreciation Expense  –  (901)
Fair Value at end of period  1,665  15,737 

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to 
assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions 
require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 
3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land 
with low level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant comparators of land with low 
level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation 
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with 
higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined 
by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is 
the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on 
the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or 
obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement 
cost is generally determined by reference to the market-observable replacement cost 
of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using deprecation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, 
consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement 
is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the 
estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.
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Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial 
assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. 
The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use 
and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions 
are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

Information about significant unobservable inputs 
(Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description Fair value 
2017 
$’000

Fair value 
2016 
$’000

Valuation 
technique(s)

Unobservable inputs

Land $1,665 $1,665 Market 
approach

Selection of land with 
similar approximate utility

Buildings $14,922 $15,737 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Consumed economic benefit/ 
obsolescence of asset
Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2)

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 23.

25 Intangible assets
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Computer software
At cost  1,725  1,416 
Accumulated amortisation  (1,221)  (794)
Total Intangible assets  504  622 

Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period  622  874 
Additions  62  16 
Transfer  282  102 
Amortisation Expense  (462)  (370)
Carrying amount at end of period  504  622 

26 Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, or intangible assets 
at 30 June 2017.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet 
available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2017 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.
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27 Payables
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Trade and other payables  250  169 

 250  169 

See also note 2(p) ‘Payables’ and note 35 ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.

28 Provisions
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (i)  1,223  1,232 
Long service leave (ii)  1,820  1,835 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (iii)  32  32 

 3,075  3,099 

Non-current
Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (ii)  943  765 
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (iii)  14  12 
 957  777 

(i) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlements of all annual leave liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period

 957  966 

More than 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period

 266  266 

 1,223  1,232 
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(ii) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period

 1,820  1,835 

More than 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period

 943  765 

 2,763  2,600 

(iii) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is 
the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the 
unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period  44  47 
Additional provisions recognised  2  (3)
Carrying amount at end of period  46  44 

29 Other liabilities
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current
Accrued salaries  69  – 
Deposits  817  805 
Income received in advance  8  8 

 894  813 
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30 Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department 
on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the 
net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that 
portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period  363,339  100,750 
Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation  200,872  264,600 
Total Contributions by owners  564,211  365,350 
Distribution to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies

Rectangular Stadium (nib Stadium)  
to Venueswest

 –  28 

State Netball Centre  (25)  553 
WA Institute of Sport  430  1,430 

 405  2,011 

Balance at end of period  563,806  363,339 

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus:
Balance at the start of period  5,267  3,869 
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land – –
Buildings  –  1,398 

Balance at the end of period  5,267  5,267 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the start of period  2,520  1,115 
Result for the period  5,454  1,405 
Balance at the end of period  7,974  2,520 

Total Equity at end of period  577,047  371,126 
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31 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to 
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents  26,585  55,925 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 18 'Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents')

 815  2,407 

 27,400  58,332 

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash 
flows used in operating activities:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Net cost of services  (85,093)  (84,381)
Non-cash items: 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  
(Note 9 'Depreciation and amortisation expense')

 1,496  1,532 

Services received free of charge  
(Note 17 'Income from State Government')

 174  148 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (i)  (189)  (111)
Current inventory  (10)  1
Other current assets  – 1
Non current assets  (206)  266
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (i)  81 (67)
Current provisions  (24)  (33)
Non-current provisions  180 (293) 
Other current liabilities  81 (416)
Net GST receipts/(payments) (ii)  94 (910)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (iii)  (26) 227
Net cash used in operating activities  (83,442)  (84,036)

(i) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and 
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 
(ii) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 
(iii) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

Notes to the Financial Statements



133

Annual Report 2016/2017

Notes to the Financial Statements

32 Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for 
functions outside the normal operations of the Department:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Burswood Park Board – construction of administration building (i)  –  1,074 
 – 1,074

(i) The Perth Stadium project funded free of charge construction of the replacement Burswood 
Park administration building.

33 Commitments
(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Within 1 year  136,034  264,734 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  –  59,840 

 136,034  324,574 

(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Within 1 year  1,300  1,268 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1,648  2,259 

 2,948  3,527 

The property and motor vehicle leases are non-cancellable leases. Terms differ for property leases (2 to 
15 years) and motor vehicles (up to 5 years). Contingent property rental provisions within these lease 
agreements consist of annual rent reviews or annual CPI increases. A variety of options exist to renew 
the property leases at the end of their current term for an additional term of between two and five years.

(c) Grants committed but not reflected in the financial statements
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Within 1 year  36,666  33,932 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  32,438  3,162 

 69,104  37,094 

Grant commitments are primarily funded from future years’ revenue and arise when a funding 
application has been approved. These commitments are all inclusive of GST.
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34 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017 and between the 
actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, when compared to estimate or prior year actual, of 
greater than 5% and $1.8 million.

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
$’000

Actual 
2017 

$’000

Actual 
2016 

$’000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$’000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$’000

Employee benefits expense  1  19,949  17,657  18,327  (2,292)  (670)

Supplies and services  5,768  7,385  7,175  1,617  210 

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense

 1,399  1,496  1,532  97  (36)

Accommodation expenses  2,474  1,967  1,824  (507)  143 

Grants and subsidies  60,840  62,303  63,401  1,463  (1,098)

Other expenses  1,334  419  295  (915)  124 

Total cost of services  91,764  91,227  92,554  (537)  (1,327)

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees  4,950  4,556  4,344  (394)  212 

Commonwealth grants 
and contributions

 332  385  304  53  81 

Other revenue  A  1,411  1,193  3,525  (218)  (2,332)

Total Revenue  6,693  6,134  8,173  (559)  (2,039)

Total income other than income 
from State Government

 6,693  6,134  8,173  (559)  (2,039)

NET COST OF SERVICES  85,071  85,093  84,381  22  712 

Income from State Government

Service appropriation  2 B  80,048  85,350  78,570  5,302  6,780 

Revenue from general 
government agencies

 –  738  1,110  738  (372)

Services received free of charge  –  174  148  174  26 

Royalties for Regions Fund  4,286  4,285  5,958  (1)  (1,673)

Total income from 
State Government

 84,334  90,547  85,786  6,213  4,761 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  (737)  5,454  1,405  6,191  4,049 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus  –  –  1,398  –  (1,398)

Total other comprehensive income  –  –  1,398  –  (1,398)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

 (737)  5,454  2,803  6,191  2,651 



135

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017 and between the 
actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, when compared to estimate or prior year actual, of 
greater than 5% and $11.6 million.

Statement of Financial Position
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
$’000

Actual 
2017 

$’000

Actual 
2016 

$’000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$’000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  3 C  4,376  26,585  55,925  22,209  (29,340)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  2,089  735  2,407  (1,354)  (1,672)

Inventories  22  31  21  9  10 

Receivables  2,951  3,877  3,756  926  121 

Amounts receivable for services  604  604  604  –  – 

Total Current Assets  10,042  31,832  62,713  21,790  (30,881)

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  85  80  –  (5)  80 

Amounts receivable for services  10,760  10,760  9,965  –  795 

Other non-current assets  4 D  434,500  414,714  205,890  (19,786)  208,824 

Property, plant and equipment  5 E  152,327  124,333  96,794  (27,994)  27,539 

Intangible assets  874  504  622  (370)  (118)

Total Non-Current Assets  598,546  550,391  313,271  (48,155)  237,120 

TOTAL ASSETS  608,588  582,223  375,984  (26,365)  206,239 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables  236  250  169  14  81 

Provisions  3,121  3,075  3,099  (46)  (24)

Other current liabilities  784  894  813  110  81 

Total Current Liabilities  4,141  4,219  4,081  78  138 

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions  1,070  957  777  (113)  180 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  1,070  957  777  (113)  180 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  5,211  5,176  4,858  (35)  318 

NET ASSETS  603,377  577,047  371,126  (26,330)  205,921 

EQUITY

Contributed equity  6 F  600,350  563,806  363,339  (36,544)  200,467 

Reserves  3,869  5,267  5,267  1,398  – 

Accumulated surplus  7 G  (842)  7,974  2,520  8,816  5,454 

TOTAL EQUITY  603,377  577,047  371,126  (26,330)  205,921 
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All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017 and between the 
actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, when compared to estimate or prior year actual, of 
greater than 5% and $1.8 million.

Statement of Cash Flows
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
$’000

Actual 
2017 

$’000

Actual 
2016 

$’000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$’000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  8 H  78,649  83,951  77,171  5,302  6,780 

Capital appropriations  9 I  240,600  206,472  259,000  (34,128)  (52,528)

Receipts from general 
government agencies

 –  738  1,110  738  (372)

Holding account drawdowns  604  604  604  –  – 

Royalties for Regions Fund  4,286  4,285  5,958  (1)  (1,673)

Net cash provided by 
State Government

 324,139  296,050  343,843  (28,089)  (47,793)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  10  (19,878)  (17,407)  (19,061)  2,471  1,654 

Supplies and services  (5,848)  (7,296)  (7,189)  (1,448)  (107)

Grants and subsidies  (60,840)  (62,303)  (63,401)  (1,463)  1,098 

Accommodation  (2,832)  (1,879)  (1,782)  953  (97)

GST payments on purchases  11 J  (3,880)  (31,816)  (28,853)  (27,936)  (2,963)

Other payments  (896)  (796)  (185)  100  (611)

Receipts

User charges and fees  4,912  4,621  4,525  (291)  96 

Commonwealth grants 
and contributions

 332  385  304  53  81 

GST receipts on sales  377  1,235  1,101  858  134 

GST receipts from taxation authority  12 K  3,514  30,675  26,842  27,161  3,833 

Other receipts  L  1,449  1,139  3,663  (310)  (2,524)

Net cash provided by/(used 
in) financing activities

 (83,590)  (83,442)  (84,036)  148  594 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current 
physical assets

 13 M  (50,104)  (29,116)  (14,723)  20,988  (14,393)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
investing activities

 (50,104)  (29,116)  (14,723)  20,988  (14,393)
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Statement of Cash Flows
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
$’000

Actual 
2017 

$’000

Actual 
2016 

$’000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$’000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Other payments for Perth Stadium  14 N  (197,100)  (220,424)  (205,890)  (23,324)  (14,534)

Receipts from financing activities  6,000  6,000  5,600  –  400 

Net cash provided by/(used 
in) financing activities

 (191,100)  (214,424)  (200,290)  (23,324)  (14,134)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents

 (655)  (30,932)  44,794  (30,277)  (75,726)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period

 7,205  58,332  13,538  51,127  44,794 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

 6,550  27,400  58,332  20,850  (30,932)

Major Variance Narratives (Controlled Operations)
Variances between estimate and actual
1. The reduction in Employee expenses is due to workforce renewal, the removal of Aboriginal 

Sports Development Officers and vacant positions.

2. Appropriation revenue (consolidated funding) increased by $9.3 million largely due to 
new funding for the “Local Projects Local Jobs” and “Silversport” grants. CSRFF funding 
reduced by $2 million due to a reduction in cashflow required. Also Sports Lotteries 
appropropriation decreased due to a reduction in Lotteries funding.

3. Cash at bank opening balance was $58.3 million, compared with the budgeted opening 
balance of $7.2 million, a difference of $51.1 million. During 2016-17 the cash decreased by 
$30.9 million, whereas it was budgeted to decrease by $0.7 million. These variances are due 
to the timing of capital appropriations and payments relating to Perth Stadium.

4. The Perth Stadium design, build, finance and maintain (DBFM) contract costs are less than 
budgeted in 2016-17. The invoices can be significant for this capital project and can cause 
large variations if they are not received as anticipated.

5. Capitalised expenditure relating to Perth Stadium is less than budgeted. The invoices can 
be significant for this capital project and can cause large variations between actual and 
budget if they are not received as anticipated.

6. Contributed equity was less than budgeted due to the timing of invoices received for Perth 
Stadium. The timing of the capital appropriation during the year reflects the timing and 
amount of expenditure on Perth Stadium.

7. Accumulated surplus is greater due largely to the appropriation revenue being $5.3 million 
greater than anticipated, without a matching increase in expenditure. In 2016-17 the 
appropriation revenue increased for “Local Projects Local Jobs” and “Silversport” grants.
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8. Appropriation receipts (consolidated funding) increased by $9.3 million largely due to 
new funding for the “Local Projects Local Jobs” and “Silversport” grants. CSRFF funding 
reduced by $2 million due to a reduction in cashflow required. Also Sports Lotteries 
appropriation decreased due to a reduction in Lotteries funding.

9. Capital appropriation was less than budgeted due to the timing of invoices received for 
Perth Stadium. The timing of the capital appropriation during the year reflects the timing and 
amount of expenditure on Perth Stadium.

10. The reduction in Employee expenses is due to workforce renewal, the removal of Aboriginal 
Sports Development Officers and vacant positions.

11. GST payments on purchases are greater than budgeted for, due to greater than budgeted 
increase in GST for purchases.

12. GST receipts from taxation authority is greater due to differences in budgeted and actual 
transactions between periods.

13. This is largely due to the capital payments for Perth Stadium being less than budgeted. The 
invoices can be significant for this capital project and can cause large variations between 
actual and budget if they are not received as anticipated.

14. The Perth Stadium design, build, finance and maintain (DBFM) contract costs include 
significant transactions. A change in the timing of transactions can therefore lead to a 
significant difference in amounts reported.

Variances between actual results for 2017 and 2016
A The Government approved a grant to the Western Australian Sporting Car Club in 2010 

for the development of Barbagallo Raceway. In 2015-16 $2.2 million was returned to the 
government and appears in the financial statements as other revenue.

B Appropriation revenue (consolidated funding) increased by $10.1 million, largely due to 
new funding for the “Local Projects Local Jobs” and “Silversport” grants. This is offset by 
a reduction in the CSRFF appropriation ($2 million less) and Sports Lotteries appropriation 
($1.3 million less).

C During 2016-17 the total cash decreased by $30.9 million. The variance in cash at bank 
between periods is largely due to the timing of capital appropriations and payments for 
Perth Stadium.

D This is due to the Perth Stadium design, build, finance and maintain (DBFM) contract costs, 
which will continue for the life of the Perth Stadium project.

E The increase in Property Plant and Equipment is largely due to the Perth Stadium capital project.

F Contributed equity is greater due to the 2016-17 capital appropriation for Perth Stadium.

G There is a surplus of $5.5 million in 2016-17 which thereby increases the accumulated 
surplus total.

H Appropriation receipts (consolidated funding) increased by $10.1 million, largely due to 
new funding for the “Local Projects Local Jobs” and “Silversport” grants. This is offset by 
a reduction in the CSRFF appropriation ($2 million less) and Sports Lotteries appropriation 
($1.3 million less).

I The timing of the capital appropriation during the year reflects the timing and amount of 
expenditure on Perth Stadium.

J GST payments on purchases is greater due to the increased expenditure on capital projects 
during 2016-17.
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K The increase in GST payments on purchases leads to an increase in the GST receipts from 
taxation authority.

L The Government approved a grant to the Western Australian Sporting Car Club in 2010 
for the development of Barbagallo Raceway. In 2015-16 $2.2 million was returned to the 
government and appears in the financial statements as other receipts.

M There are increased payments relating to the Perth Stadium capital project, reflecting the 
stage of the project and the timing of invoices received.

N This is due to the Perth Stadium design, build, finance and maintain (DBFM) contract costs, 
which will continue for the life of the Perth Stadium project.

35 Financial instruments disclosures
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash 
and cash equivalents, Treasurer’s advances, receivables and payables. The Department has 
limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk management program focuses 
on managing the risks identified below.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each 
class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive 
of any allowance for impairment, as shown in the table at Note 35(c) ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other 
than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the 
end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of  
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available  
to meet its commitments.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks 
(for example, equity securities or commodity price changes). The Department is not materially 
exposed to interest rate risk because all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are 
non-interest bearing, and it has no borrowings.
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(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  26,585  55,925 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  815  2,407 
Receivables  11,830  11,183 
Total financial assets  39,230  69,515 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  250  169 
Accrued expenses  894  813 
Total financial liabilities  1,144  982 

Notes to the Financial Statements



141

Annual Report 2016/2017

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit risk
The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk, and the ageing 
analysis of financial assets. The Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the 
ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table 
is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to 
the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount 

$’000

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired 

$’000

Up to 
1 month 

$’000

1-3 
months 

$’000

3-12 
months 

$’000

1-5 
years 
$’000

More than 
5 years 

$’000

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
$’000

Financial Assets

2017

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 26,585  26,585  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents

 815  815  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Receivables (a)  466  380  65  20  1  –  – 

Amounts receivable 
for services

 11,364  11,364  –  –  –  –  –  – 

 39,230  39,144  65  20  1  –  –  – 

2016

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 55,925  55,925  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents

 2,407  2,407  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Receivables (a)  614  494  63  52  5 –  –  – 

Amounts receivable 
for services

 10,569  10,569  –  –  –  –  –  – 

 69,515  69,395  63  52  5  –  –  – 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis 
of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal 
cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Weighted 
Average 
Effective  
Interest 

Rate 
%

Carrying 
Amount 

$’000

Interest rate exposure

Total 
Nominal 
Amount 

$’000

Maturity dates

Fixed 
Interest 

rate 
$’000

Variable 
Interest 

rate 
$’000

Non- 
interest 
Bearing 

$’000

Up to 
1 month 

$’000

1-3 
months 

$’000

3-12 
months 

$’000

1-5 
years 
$’000

More 
than 

5 years 
$’000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash 
and cash 
equivalents

 26,585 – –  26,585  26,585  26,585 – – – –

Restricted 
cash 
and cash 
equivalents

2.0  815 – 59  756  815  815 – – – –

Receivables 
(a)

 466 – –  466  466  466 – – – –

Amounts 
receivable 
for services

 11,364 – –  11,364  11,364 –  –  604  2,416  8,344 

 39,230  –  59  39,171  39,230  27,866  –  604  2,416  8,344 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  250  –  –  250  250  250  –  –  –  – 

 250 –  –  250  250  250  –  –  –  – 

2016

Financial Assets

Cash 
and cash 
equivalents

 55,925  –  –  55,925  55,925  55,925  –  –  –  –

Restricted 
cash 
and cash 
equivalents

2.3  2,407  – 58  2,349  2,407  2,407  –  –  –  –

Receivables 
(a)

 614  –  –  614  614  614  –  –  –  –

Amounts 
receivable 
for services

 10,569  –  –  10,569  10,569  –  –  604  2,416  7,549 

 69,515  –  58  69,457  69,515  58,946  –  604  2,416  7,549 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  169  –  –  169  169  169  –  –  –  – 

 169  –  –  169  169  169  –  –  –  – 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Annual Report 2016/2017

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s 
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and 
equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held 
constant throughout the reporting period.

Carrying 
Amount 

$’000

-100 basis points +100 basis points

Surplus 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

Surplus 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

2017

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents

 59  (0.6)  (0.6)  0.6  0.6 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (0.6)  (0.6)  (0.6)  (0.6)

2016

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents

 58  (0.6)  (0.6)  0.6  0.6 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (0.6)  (0.6)  (0.6)  (0.6)

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether 
they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

36 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current 
reporting period is as follows:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

 94  92 
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37 Affiliated bodies
During the year the Department transferred or spent the following funds on behalf of 
organisations which represented at least 50% of those organisations’ operational funding:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Combat Sports Commission  814  786 
Western Australian Institute of Sport  8,932  7,784 

 9,746  8,570 

The organisations listed above are not subject to operational control by the Department.

38 Supplementary financial information
Write-Offs
Receivables
During the reporting period the following amounts were written off the Department’s receivables 
under the authority of:

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

The Accountable Authority  17  36 
 17  36 

39 Explanatory Statement for Administered Items
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the 
actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for these variances.

Income from 
Administered Items

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
$’000

Actual 
2017 

$’000

Actual 
2016 

$’000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$’000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$’000

Income

For transfer:

Administered 
appropriations

814 814 786 0 28

Total Administered 
Income

814 814 786 0 28

Expenses

Grants and subsidies 814 814 786 0 28

Total Administered 
Expenses

814 814 786 0 28

Net Income from 
Administered Items

0 0 0 0 0
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40 Administered assets and liabilities
 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Current Assets
Loan receivable (i)  1,120  1,120 
Total Administered Current Assets  1,120  1,120 

Non-Current Assets
Loan receivable  –  – 
Total Administered Non-
Current Assets

 –  – 

Total Administered Assets  1,120  1,120 

Current Liabilities
Treasurer's Advance  1,120  1,120 
Total Administered Current Liabilities  1,120  1,120 

Total Administered Liabilities  1,120  1,120 

An amount of $2 million was provided by a Treasurer’s Advance to the Department in 2009-10. 
The Treasurer’s Advance was paid to the Western Australian Rugby Union (Inc.) as an interest 
free loan and is to be repayable over eight years. The Treasurer’s Advance is reported as a 
current liability as the Department is required to apply to the Treasurer for this funding annually.

41 Indian Ocean Territories
The Commission provides a full range of services to the residents of Christmas and Cocos Islands. The 
service is provided pursuant to the service delivery agreement with the Commonwealth government.

 2017  
$’000

 2016  
$’000

Opening balance from previous year  12  7 
Receipts from Commonwealth  98  100 
Expenditure  90  95 
Balance Carried forward  20  12 

42 Events Occurring after the End of the Reporting Period
The department has no adjusting or non adjusting events after the end of the reporting 
period, except for the following. The Department of Sport and Recreation ceased to exist as 
a department on 30 June 2017, as the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries was created on 01 July 2017. All the assets, rights and liabilities of Department of 
Sport and Recreation as at 30 June 2017 were transferred to Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries as opening balances as at 01 July 2017.
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